
Central Bedfordshire 
Council
Priory House
Monks Walk
Chicksands, 
Shefford SG17 5TQ

 

please ask for Miss M Brooks

direct line 0300 300 5783

date 1 November 2017

                                 NOTICE OF MEETING

SACRE (STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL FOR RELIGIOUS 
EDUCATION)

Date & Time
Thursday, 9 November 2017 at 2.00 p.m.

Venue 
Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk, Shefford, 

SG17 5TQ

Richard Carr
Chief Executive

To:    The Chairman and Members of the SACRE (STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL 
FOR RELIGIOUS EDUCATION):

Group A Roman Catholic Church (2) Sister Aidan Richards
Mary O’Sullivan

Free Church (3)
Baptist
Muslim (1)
Hindu (1) Tulsi Seva Dasi
Sikh (1) Tirath Bhavra
Jewish (1) Nina Leigh
Buddhist (1)

Group B Church of England (3) Jane Chipperton
Carly Woodall

Group C Lower School Rep Lucy Chapman, Sutton Lower 
School

Secondary RE Specialist Kathleen Eldridge, Redborne 
Upper School

This meeting may 
be filmed.*



Middle School Rep Jacquie Binks, Etonbury Middle 
School

Special School Rep

Lower School 
Representative

Anita Whitehurst, St Swithuns 
School, Sandy

Group D Cllrs Mrs A Barker, F Firth, C C Gomm, Mrs D B Gurney and 
A Ryan

[Named Substitutes:

Cllrs: T Swain, M A G Versallion and N Warren]

Officers: Paul Harpin - School Improvement Consultant, CBC
Maria Brooks - Committee Services Officer, CBC

*Please note that phones and other equipment may be used to film, 
audio record, tweet or blog from this meeting.  No part of the meeting 
room is exempt from public filming.

The use of arising images or recordings is not under the Council’s 
control.



AGENDA

1.  Apologies

To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutes.

2.  Minutes of the Last Meeting

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the last meeting held on 4 July 
2017.

Reports

3. Commission on Religious Education

To consider the interim report from the Commission on 
Religious Education (CoRE) about their developing thoughts 
on RE in schools in England.

The executive summary is included as part of the agenda 
pack the full interim report can be accessed via:

http://www.commissiononre.org.uk/religious-education-
for-all-commission-interim-report/

* 9 - 24

4. State of the Nation Report

To consider a report on Religious Education provision 
within secondary schools in England.

* 25 - 84

5. SACRE Development Plan

To consider the SACRE Development Plan.

* 85 - 88

6. Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural Comments

To consider the spiritual, moral, social and cultural 
comments from Ofsted reports April to July 2017.

* 89 - 90

7. Date of Next Meeting

To note that the next meeting of the SACRE will be held 
on Tuesday 27 February 2018 at 2:00pm, at Priory 
House, Shefford.

http://www.commissiononre.org.uk/religious-education-for-all-commission-interim-report/
http://www.commissiononre.org.uk/religious-education-for-all-commission-interim-report/


8. Exclusion of the Press and Public

To consider whether to pass a resolution under section 
100A of the Local Government Act 1972 to exclude the 
Press and Public from the meeting for the following item 
of business on the grounds that the consideration of the
item is likely to involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.

Exempt Item

Item      

9.

Subject                                                            

Review of Agreed Syllabus Update

To review the update from Lat Blaylock.

Exempt 
Para

* 3

Page Nos.

91 - 196



CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL

At a meeting of the SACRE (STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL FOR RELIGIOUS 
EDUCATION) held at Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk, Shefford, 
SG17 5TQ on Tuesday, 4 July 2017.

PRESENT

J Chipperton (Chairman)

Group A: Sister Aiden 
Richards

Roman Catholic Church Representative

Mary O’Sullivan Roman Catholic Church Representative
Nina Leigh Jewish Representative
Tulsi Seva Dasi Hindu Representative

Group B: Carly Woodall Church of England Representative

Group C: Lucy Chapman Lower School Representative, Sutton Lower 
School

Kathleen Eldridge Secondary RE Specialist, Redborne Upper 
School

Anita Whitehurst St Swithuns School

Group D: Cllr F Firth

Officers in 
Attendance:

Mr P Harpin - School Improvement Consultant

Mrs S Hobbs - Senior Committee Services Officer

In the absence of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, the Senior Committee 
Services Officer acted as Chairman until the Chairman arrived.

SACRE/17/1.  Election of Chairman 2017/18 

Nominations for Chairman of the SACRE were sought.  Jane Chipperton was 
nominated, seconded and duly elected.

Members thanked the Chairman for her hard work.

RESOLVED

that Jane Chipperton be elected as the Chairman of the SACRE for 
2017/18.

SACRE/17/2.  Election of Vice-Chairman 2017/18 

Nominations for Vice-Chairman of the SACRE were sought.  Councillor Mrs 
Doreen Gurney was nominated, seconded and duly elected.

Page 5
Agenda item 2



RESOLVED

that Councillor Mrs Gurney be elected as the Vice-Chairman of the 
SACRE for 2017/18.

SACRE/17/3.  Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural Comments 

The SACRE considered a report that set out the Ofsted results for Spiritual, 
Moral, Social and Cultural (SMSC) for the period January to March 2017.  It 
was noted that some of the comments by Ofsted were focused on British 
values.  Members discussed the following:

 St Swithuns Lower School, Sandy had received a good report and 
pupils’ SMSC development was a strength of the school;

 Ridgemont Lower School had also received positive comments;

 Eaton Bray Primary School required improvement, although there was 
plenty of opportunity for pupils to contribute to SMSC;

 Houghton Regis Primary School required improvement, although the 
SMSC was good and was promoted effectively;

 Hawthorn Park Primary School, Houghton Regis SMSC required 
improvement as it was felt they did not learn enough about different 
cultures, religions or beliefs;

 Fullbrook, Woburn and Potton Middle Schools were graded as good; 
and

 All Saints Academy, Dunstable required improvement, although British 
values were promoted and there were many opportunities to extend 
SMSC development.

RESOLVED

1. that the report be noted; and

2. that Mr Harpin provide a list of Religious Education specialists in 
Central Bedfordshire schools to the SACRE, if this information was 
not available then a questionnaire be sent to the schools asking 
them for details of their worship or spiritual co-ordinator.  This 
would be carried out in the Autumn term.

The Chairman joined the meeting and took over chairing the meeting.

Page 6
Agenda item 2



SACRE/17/4.  Minutes of the Last Meeting 

The SACRE noted that Jo Ann Gaunt the Baptist representative had resigned 
from the Board and Members agreed to send a letter thanking her for her 
contribution.

It was also noted that the representative for Special Schools was still vacant.

RESOLVED

that the minutes of the meeting held on 21 February 2017 be confirmed as 
a correct record and signed by the Chairman, subject to amending Carly 
Woodall being a representative of Group B and not C as set out in the 
minutes.

SACRE/17/5.  Review of the Agreed Syllabus 

The SACRE considered a report that set out progress on the collaboration for a 
new RE Agreed Syllabus.  Bedford Borough, Central Bedfordshire and Luton 
SACREs had agreed their budget and outline plan for a new syllabus, the 
budget and reserved funds needed for the syllabus with contributions from all 3 
authorities and the Diocese of Saint Albans.  

A questionnaire had been circulated to gather the ideas and opinions of all 
stakeholders about the directions and needs that must be met if the new 
syllabus was to be successful

A meeting for RE teachers on SACRE and other interested stakeholders was 
due to take place on 11 July 2017 to discuss the proposed new syllabus.  
Members encouraged attendance to this meeting, especially teachers 
representing Years 7 and 8, to enable a thorough discussion on the units.  The 
draft overview of possible units was tabled at the meeting.  These units would 
bring together an understanding of Christianity and the Bedford, Central 
Bedfordshire and Luton syllabus.

NOTED

the report.

SACRE/17/6.  Agreed Syllabus Questionnaire 

NOTED

the Bedford Borough, Central Bedfordshire and Luton Agree Syllabus 
Questionnaire.

SACRE/17/7.  Christianity and the Potential Links with the Agreed Syllabus 

As discussed under minute SACRE/17/5.

Page 7
Agenda item 2



SACRE/17/8.  New Draft Development Plan 

The SACRE considered the draft SACRE Development Plan covering April 
2017 – March 2018:-

 visits to schools in Central Bedfordshire to observe RE lessons had not 
been taking place, but would need to be revisited in the Autumn term;

 the number of schools applying for the RE Quality Mark had dropped.  
Reference to the trial period to be removed;

 Mr Harpin had met with officers at Central Bedfordshire Council to 
discuss the funding for the Agreed Syllabus.  He would follow this up 
with an email for clarification on the budget; and

 a new Deputy Director Transformation & Education had been appointed 
at Central Bedfordshire Council and officer support would now fall under 
his remit.

NOTED

the report.

SACRE/17/9.  Feedback from NASACRE AGM 

Mr Harpin had attended the NASACRE AGM where Dr Joyce Miller, Associate 
Fellow in the Religions and Education Research Unit at the University of 
Warwick was a key speaker.  She spoke about the work of the RE Commission 
and suggested some questions for SACREs on their roles and futures.  Her 
presentation considered the way in which RE existed within a world of where 
technology was developing at a rapid rate.

NOTED

the report.

SACRE/17/10.   Date of Next Meeting 

Next meeting was schedule for Tuesday 7 November 2017 at 2.00 p.m., Priory 
House, Shefford.

It was agreed that dates for future meetings needed to be set and it was 
suggested that the first meeting in 2018 be scheduled for the 20/21 February 
2018 with a 2 p.m. start time.

(Note: The meeting commenced at 2.40 p.m. and concluded at 3.40 p.m.)

Chairman …………….………………….

Dated ……………………………….

Page 8
Agenda item 2



RELIGIOUS EDUCATION
FOR ALL

INTERIM REPORT EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

SEPTEMBER 2017

Page 9
Agenda item 3



Page 10
Agenda item 3



COMMISSION ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This interim report is published with the intention of creating an
opportunity for as many people and organisations as possible to engage
with the Commission on Religious Education (CoRE) about our
developing thoughts on RE in schools in England. The interim report
explores a number of issues which have emerged during our deliberations
on the evidence presented to us during the initial consultation, at the
evidence gathering sessions held around the country and in written
submissions received during the 2016/17 academic year. It sets out initial
recommendations alongside a range of issues on which we are seeking to
consult further before drawing any conclusions. We hope that there will
be a full and vigorous consultation on the content of this interim report,
and that this will help to inform the final report of the Commission, due to
be published in 2018. 

RE remains a vital academic subject for education in the 21st century.
Studying RE gives young people the knowledge, understanding and
motivation they need to understand important aspects of human
experience, including the religious, spiritual, and moral. It gives insights
into the arts, literature, history, and contemporary local and global social
and political issues. It provides them with a space in the curriculum to
reflect on their own worldview and to engage with others whose
worldview may be different. The young people that we have spoken to
have told us that RE enables them to have better friendships and to
develop greater respect and empathy for others. RE is highly valued by
many employers, who increasingly understand that in a globalised world,
understanding others’ worldviews and their impact on people’s lives is
essential to success.

The knowledge gained through studying RE is central to good local,
national and global citizenship. It enables young people to have a nuanced
and informed understanding of key political and social issues that they will
need to face as they grow up in an increasingly globalised world. RE helps
pupils to deal positively with controversial issues, to manage strongly held
differences of belief, and to challenge stereotypes. 

As local and global demographics have changed, including patterns of
affiliation to religious and non-religious worldviews, today’s students will
encounter people with a much more diverse range of beliefs, lifestyles and
backgrounds than did the previous generations. Understanding religious
and non-religious worldviews, and their impact on individuals, communities
and wider society, has never been more essential to good citizenship than
it is now. For these reasons, we argue throughout the report that all pupils,
regardless of background or the type of school they attend, are entitled to
high quality RE which enables them to develop the nuanced and informed

Page 11
Agenda item 3



2 COMMISSION ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION

understanding of worldviews that they will need as citizens. 

We were impressed by the evidence of high quality and innovative
approaches to RE that were presented during our consultations.1 At its
best, the subject offers great educational benefit for pupils and the British
model of RE is highly regarded and has earned international esteem. Of
particular note has been the appearance in recent years of local and
national support networks for teachers and also the high level of
examination entry at GCSE and A level. 

Having said that, we are unanimous in the view that RE faces a perilous
future without strategic, urgent intervention. Examination entries fell for
the first time in 2017, and many who gave evidence saw this as a sign of
further decline in years to come. Amongst the many challenges the
subject faces, the following are identified as particularly significant:

The changed patterns of religious and non-religious belief from the time•
when the current system was enacted in 1944 present a requirement to
ensure that RE’s structures reflect the realities of contemporary society.
The religious landscape in the UK has diversified with fewer people
identifying as Anglican and more identifying with other Christian
denominations or other religious traditions. Moreover, the number of
people identifying as non-religious has increased: in 2017, 53% of the
population described themselves as not having a religion.2 The global
religious landscape has also been undergoing rapid change, where
religion is highly significant in many societies.

There is inconsistency in the quality and provision of RE, with increasing•
numbers of schools not even meeting the basic legal requirement.
Pupils are experiencing a lottery in their access to high quality RE.
Evidence presented to the Commission made clear the impact that the
type of school had on the extent to which RE is provided: while 6.5% of
schools that follow an RE curriculum determined by their religious
character devote no part of their curriculum time to RE at key stage 4,
the figure is 20.7% for schools required to follow a locally agreed
syllabus for RE and 43.7% for academies without a religious character. 3

This inequality of provision means that many children are being
disadvantaged by being denied RE. 

As more schools become academies, leaving ever fewer under local•
authority control, the current framework of determination of RE via
local authorities and agreed syllabuses is ceasing to be fit for purpose. A
decrease in local authority funding has exacerbated this problem.

1 Please see Appendix 1: Evidence received by the Commission for details of how we
collected evidence.

2 NATCEN (2017). British Social Attitudes Survey.
http://www.natcen.ac.uk/media/1469605/BSA-religion.pdf

3 RE Council & National Association of Teachers of RE (2017, forthcoming). The State of
the Nation.

Page 12
Agenda item 3



COMMISSION ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 3

Moreover, evidence submitted to the Commission makes clear that the
current approach of relying on the requirements of academy funding
agreements is not sufficient for ensuring the proper provision of RE
across all academies. If no action is taken, there is a serious risk of
increasing numbers of pupils leaving school with an inadequate level of
knowledge and understanding of religious and non-religious
worldviews at precisely the time when such understanding is becoming
more important.

RE has suffered from a policy environment that has not encouraged•
headteachers to regard it as a high-status subject. This environment
includes insufficient processes to hold schools to account for their
provision of RE and the omission of RE from key performance indicators
published by DfE.

There has been diminishing access to adequate training and support for•
teachers. This is particularly acute at primary level where the
Commission heard that on average a primary trainee receives less than
three hours of RE-specific training during a one-year PGCE or School
Direct course.4

The quality of RE is variable across schools. Low standards predominate•
across too many schools, including schools with and without a religious

character. Teachers are
not always clear on the
purpose of the subject and
many lack the subject
knowledge necessary to
teach about sensitive and
crucial issues with skill and
nuance. Locally agreed
syllabuses are also
variable in quality. One

issue that we have noted is the fact that religion is often presented in an
essentialist mode that fails to help pupils understand the complexity,
diversity and historicity of religious ideas, institutions and practices.
This was most often mentioned in relation to the Dharmic traditions (i.e.
Hindu, Buddhist and Sikh traditions) in the written and oral evidence but
affects the presentation of all religions and worldviews in resources and
in the classroom.

The Commissioners have therefore made initial recommendations in four
areas:

4 Fiona Moss, oral evidence submitted to the Commission. See also NATRE (2016). An
analysis of the provision for RE in primary schools.
www.natre.org.uk%2Fuploads%2FAdditional%2520Documents%2FNATRE%2520Prim
ary%2520Survey%25202016%2520final.docx&usg=AFQjCNFDWLUicovE8L0QEgZiiu
HF7fFcAA

We are advocating RE for all not
because children belong to religious
traditions or not, but because in our age
a nuanced understanding of the role of
worldviews must be a part of citizens’
intellectual make-up

Page 13
Agenda item 3



4 COMMISSION ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION

A national entitlement for RE. This would set out clearly the aims and1.
purpose(s) of RE and what pupils should experience in the course of their
study of the subject. This national entitlement should be for all pupils at all
state-funded schools and we seek to consult with independent schools
about whether they should adopt it. We are advocating RE for all not
because children belong to religious traditions or not, but because in our
age a nuanced understanding of the role of worldviews must be a part of
citizens’ intellectual make-up. It is to do with their ability to function
effectively as citizens and as human beings. This is as important an aspect
of education for pupils in schools of a religious character as it is in those
without a religious character. It should be introduced through non-
statutory guidance as early as possible with a view to it ultimately
becoming statutory, either to supplement or replace the current
legislation on agreed syllabuses. This national entitlement provides a
reinvigorated vision for RE for all pupils in the future, drawing on the very
best of the RE that we know happens in some schools. It seeks to be a
basic statement of what all pupils are entitled to, but is not a national
syllabus or curriculum. We hope that the flexibility of the proposed
national entitlement will ensure that a diversity of high quality approaches
will emerge and that this will best suit the landscape of a school-led
system. We recognise that schools will need guidance and support to
translate this entitlement into curriculum planning and we are reviewing
where this guidance and support should come from. 

Holding schools to account for the provision and quality of RE. The2.
evidence presented to us indicates that at present too many schools are
not being held to account for failing to provide adequate RE. Schools
should be required to publish details on their website of how they meet
the national entitlement for RE. Inspection frameworks should be revised
to ensure that inspectors monitor whether schools meet the national
entitlement for RE. The Commission has also given thought to how
schools should provide for those Key Stage 4 pupils who are not taking
the GCSE in Religious Studies and would like to consult on the possibility
of a revised qualification for these pupils to ensure that their work can be
accredited. 

A National Plan to improve teaching and learning in RE. The Commission3.
would like to develop a National Plan for developing teaching and
learning in RE, along the lines of the National Plan for Music Education.
The National Plan will bring together the Commission’s recommendations
for improving teacher subject knowledge and confidence and we seek to
consult on how this can best be achieved.

A renewed and expanded role for Standing Advisory Councils on4.
Religious Education (SACREs). The evidence we have received suggests
that SACREs can have an important role in promoting and supporting RE
and in promoting good community relations more broadly, but that their
capacity to deliver this role fully has been diminishing in many local
authorities. The Commission’s suggested recommendations, which are

Page 14
Agenda item 3



COMMISSION ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 5

consultative at this stage, call for consideration to be given to adding the
promotion of improved community relations to the remit of SACREs and
make proposals for the securing of resources for their work. There are also
recommendations that seek consideration of the composition of SACREs
with a call to ensure that they are fully representative, with
representatives of non-religious worldviews as full members.

The full recommendations are set out on pages 8 to 12.

In addition, the Commissioners are seeking to undertake further
consultation in these areas and have set out the issues that they are
particularly interested in exploring. These areas for consultation are set
out on pages 12 to 14.

LIST OF RECOMMENDATIONS

A NATIONAL ENTITLEMENT FOR RELIGIOUS EDUCATION

There should be a national entitlement statement for RE which sets outa.
clearly the aims and purpose of RE and what pupils should experience in
the course of their study of the subject. A draft statement for
consultation is overleaf.

This entitlement should become normative through non-statutoryb.
guidance as early as possible, and should ultimately become statutory,
either to supplement or to replace current legislation on agreed
syllabuses.

The national entitlement should apply to all state-funded schoolsc.
including academies, free schools and schools of a religious character. 

Independent schools should consider adopting the entitlement as and.
undertaking of good practice.

The National Entitlement for Religious Education

Overleaf is the draft text of the proposed national entitlement for RE. 
This draft is for consultation. We welcome comments on and refinements
to the text.

Page 15
Agenda item 3



6 COMMISSION ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION

A National Entitlement for RE

RE in schools should enable students to engage in an intelligent
and informed way with the ideas, practices and contemporary
manifestations of a diversity of religious and non-religious
worldviews. It should enable them to understand how worldviews
are inextricably woven into, influence and are influenced by, all
dimensions of human experience. It should prepare pupils for life
in modern Britain by enabling them to engage respectfully with
people with worldviews different from their own. RE should equip
pupils to develop their own beliefs, practices, values and identity
in the light of their reflections on the worldviews they have
studied. 

Through their study of worldviews, pupils should develop a
lifelong motivation to enquire into questions of meaning and
purpose, and investigate others’ worldviews and what they mean
for individuals, communities and society. All of this will enable
them to become responsible citizens and members of diverse
and changing local, national and global communities.

Throughout their period of compulsory schooling, pupils should
learn about, understand and engage with:

The diversity of religious and non-religious worldviews anda.
ways of life that exist locally, nationally and globally.

The ways in which communities and individuals holdingb.
different worldviews interact, change and maintain continuity
in different times and contexts and as the surrounding culture
changes. 

The different ways that people interpret and respond to textsc.
and other sources of authority.

The ways that people communicate their beliefs, experiences,d.
values and identities through verbal and non-verbal means (eg
prose, story, poetry, art, music, dance, ritual, architecture).

How people seek moral guidance from religious and non-e.
religious worldviews and how they interpret this guidance in
their lives.

The importance of experience, including extra-ordinaryf.
experiences, in shaping people’s worldviews and how
worldviews are used to interpret experience.

Page 16
Agenda item 3



COMMISSION ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 7

The role of religious and non-religious rituals and practices ing.
both creating and expressing experience, beliefs, values and
commitments.

The relationship between people’s worldview and their thinkingh.
and actions concerning political, public, social and cultural life.

Both the positive and negative exercise of power and influencei.
resulting from people’s worldviews.

The important role that worldviews play in providing peoplej.
with a way of making sense of their lives and in forming their
identity.*

As part of a balanced programme aimed at meeting this
provision, it is expected that pupils will:

Experience meeting and visiting people from their local1.
community from a range of worldviews including those
different from their own and that of the school.

Develop core skills for researching the beliefs, values and2.
practices of individuals and groups in society. 

Experience a range of approaches to the study of religions3.
(e.g. phenomenology, philosophy, sociology, textual studies,
theology).

Engage with questions of meaning and purpose and of the4.
nature of reality raised by the worldviews that they study. 

Think through and develop a reflective approach to their own5.
personal responses and developing identity and learn to
articulate these clearly and coherently while respecting the
right of others to differ.

Develop the core skills and dispositions of careful listening,6.
critical thinking, self-reflection, empathy and open-
mindedness required for making wise judgments. 

Learn to discuss controversial issues and work with others7.
(including those that they disagree with) with the intention of
securing a healthy and peaceful society in the context of
significant diversity.

* We are indebted to Barbara Wintersgill, who presented her project on Big
Ideas in RE. Her work has informed much of the content of this list.

Page 17
Agenda item 3



8 COMMISSION ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION

HOLDING SCHOOLS TO ACCOUNT FOR THE PROVISION AND QUALITY OF RE

Schools should be required to publish on their website details of howa.
they meet the national entitlement for RE. 

Inspection frameworks should be revised to ensure that inspectorsb.
monitor whether or not schools meet the national entitlement for RE, in
the light of schools’ duty to provide a broad and balanced curriculum.

The DfE should either monitor, or give SACREs or other approvedc.
bodies the power and resources to monitor, the provision and quality of
RE in all schools, including free schools, academies and schools of a
religious character. 

The government should consider the impact of school performanced.
measures, including the exclusion of RS GCSE from the EBacc, on GCSE
entries and on the provision and quality of RE, and consider reviewing
performance measures in the light of the evidence.

A RENEWED AND EXPANDED ROLE FOR SACRES

We seek to consult on all our recommendations relating to SACREs. (See
page 12)

A NATIONAL PLAN FOR IMPROVING TEACHING AND LEARNING IN RE

We are considering developing a National Plan for developing teaching
and learning in RE, along the lines of the National Plan for Music
Education. This plan is likely to include the following recommendations:

A minimum of 12 hours should be devoted to RE in all primary Initiala.
Teacher Education (ITE) courses. 

Leading primary schools for RE should be identified and all primaryb.
trainees should be given the opportunity to observe RE teaching in such
a school.

Include under the Teachers’ Standards, part 1, section 3 (Demonstratec.
good subject and curriculum knowledge), the requirement that
teachers ‘demonstrate a good understanding of and take responsibility
for the sensitive handling of controversial issues, including thoughtful
discussion of religious and non-religious worldviews where necessary.’

Restore funded Subject Knowledge Enhancement (SKE) courses ford.
those applying to teach RE and for serving teachers of RE without a
relevant post A-level qualification in the subject.

Restore parity of bursaries for RE with those for other shortagee.
subjects. 

Page 18
Agenda item 3



COMMISSION ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 9

The government and relevant funding bodies should consider howf.
funding of grassroots teacher networks can be made more sustainable. 

SACREs and local authorities should review existing good practice ing.
developing and sustaining these grassroots networks and start their
own if such a network does not exist in their local area. 

University performance measures should be updated to credith.
universities for their engagement with schools, including the provision
of continuing professional development (CPD) and resource materials.

University staff conducting research in areas related to RE should bei.
encouraged to contribute to grassroots networks, lead teacher
development days, develop resource materials or become SACRE
members. This may provide opportunities for them to demonstrate the
impact of their research or increase student recruitment.

LIST OF AREAS FOR CONSULTATION

A NATIONAL ENTITLEMENT FOR RELIGIOUS EDUCATION

The entitlement is not a national syllabus or curriculum. It is a basic1.
statement of what all pupils are entitled to, whatever type of school they
attend. Many schools will need guidance and support to translate this
entitlement into curriculum planning, particularly in relation to
progression. We are still reviewing where this guidance and support will
come from. We seek input on what bodies would be best placed to
translate the entitlement into detailed programmes of study and how best
to support schools to plan their curriculum in line with the entitlement.
Several possibilities have been discussed by the Commission so far:

Removing the requirement for local authorities to hold Agreed Syllabusa.
Conferences (ASCs). In a context where every school will eventually
become an academy, this requirement is no longer proportionate for
many local authorities and will become even less so over time. However,
it might be possible for programmes of study to be developed at
regional levels. It would also be possible to include regional universities
on this model. A regional system might not provide sufficient support to
academies unless they were explicitly included. If the requirement for
local authorities to develop a locally agreed syllabus were to be
removed, it would not preclude those local authorities that had the
resource and expertise from convening ASCs and developing
programmes of study that could be adopted by those schools that
chose to, within or outside that local authority.

Recommending the development of a national set of programmes ofb.
study compliant with the entitlement. This may or may not be
government-funded. This has the advantage of providing consistency

Page 19
Agenda item 3



10 COMMISSION ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION

across localities, which was requested by some teachers in the written
and oral evidence. However, there are a number of potential difficulties
with it. First, there is the vexed question of who develops programmes
of study. Second, there is the justified criticism that in the era of a
school-led system a nationally agreed set of programmes of study is too
rigid and leaves schools insufficient freedom to undertake RE that is
appropriate for their pupils and immediate community. Third, there is
the question of how to ensure that the syllabus is appropriately
independent of political interference. Many of those who gave oral and
written evidence were concerned about excessive political interference
in the scope and content of RE.

Leaving the market open for schools, groups of schools, dioceses,c.
SACREs, commercial providers and other relevant groups to write their
own programmes of study. This would allow maximum freedom for
schools but might not resolve the inequality in provision and quality
discussed above. Non-statutory guidance or a range of model
programmes of study might also be developed to support relevant
groups in writing their own programmes of study.

There is likely to be a range of possibilities within these broad categories2.
and other possibilities that we have not yet considered. We seek views on
what would be most helpful to support schools with curriculum planning
and ensure that all schools can meet the entitlement effectively.

The question also remains as to whether the entitlement statement should3.
replace or supplement the current legislation on agreed syllabuses, which
requires that they must ‘reflect the fact that religious traditions in Britain
are in the main Christian, whilst taking account of the teaching and
practices of the other principal religions represented in Great Britain’ (UK
Parliament, Education Act 1996, Section 375.2). This legislative statement
remains a statement of historical and social fact. Of those who identify
themselves as having a religion, the majority are Christian, and Christianity
has played a particular role in the history of Great Britain. However, the
statement in and of itself does not specify how much time should be spent
on any worldview. It also does not include non-religious worldviews. We
seek views on whether the entitlement should specify a number and range
of worldviews, or a minimum time to be spent on one worldview.

We have also discussed whether the name of the subject should be4.
changed, to signify the renewed vision for the subject. It is difficult to find
an alternative name that appropriately captures the breadth and depth of
the subject as outlined in the entitlement statement. We have discussed a
number of options. A small majority of the Commission preferred to call
the subject Religion and Ethics (or Religions and Ethics) while others
wished either to preserve the current name, or to change its name to
Religions and Worldviews or Religion, Philosophy and Ethics (or
Philosophy, Religion and Ethics). We seek views on which of these options
best captures the nature of the subject outlined in the entitlement. We

Page 20
Agenda item 3



COMMISSION ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 11

also seek suggestions on alternative names which fit the entitlement and
the renewed vision for the subject. 

HOLDING SCHOOLS TO ACCOUNT FOR THE PROVISION AND QUALITY OF RE

We seek views on the most appropriate mechanisms for holding schools1.
to account for the provision and quality of RE at both primary and
secondary level.

We are considering recommending that a revised qualification at Key2.
Stage 4, for those not taking Full Course GCSE RS, be developed. This
would need to meet the requirements of the national entitlement for RE
and have currency in school performance measures. This qualification
would not be compulsory but would count in school performance
measures and in individuals’ applications for work or further study. We
seek views on how effective this would be and what demand there would
be for such a qualification.

A RENEWED AND EXPANDED ROLE FOR SACRES

We seek views on the following recommendations on the role of SACREs:1.

The Government should publicly highlight and reaffirm the importanta.
role of SACREs in supporting and resourcing RE.

The Government should consider whether the role of SACREs should beb.
expanded to include a duty to advise on all matters relating to religion
and belief in schools.

The Government should consider ways of securing funding to resourcec.
SACREs adequately. Options for this may include:

Ring-fenced funding for SACREs.i.

Funding for SACREs from the Department of Culture, Media andii.
Sport or the Department of Communities and Local Government.

Specifying a minimum amount of funding (perhaps per school or periii.
pupil) to which local authorities must adhere.

The Government should consider the composition of SACREs and thed.
law should be changed to include representatives of non-religious
worldviews as full members.

The Government should publish all SACRE annual reports publicly on ae.
dedicated website.

We seek views on what the duties of SACREs should be in relation to2.
promoting good community relations, beyond matters relating to religion

Page 21
Agenda item 3



12 COMMISSION ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION

and belief in schools.

We are still considering how the composition of SACREs should be3.
adapted to be fit for purpose in a changed social and educational
landscape. In particular, we are considering whether the committee
structure should be changed or abolished. We seek views and evidence
on this. 

We seek views on which groups and organisations should be represented4.
on SACREs.

THE RIGHT OF WITHDRAWAL

We seek further evidence on the number of pupils being withdrawn from1.
RE, and the reasons given, where these are given, as well as whether the
number of cases and reasons given have been changing over time. 

We seek views on the most effective ways to manage the right of2.
withdrawal in practice. 

We seek views on whether it is desirable to look to adopt an overall3.
approach to the design of the RE curriculum in every school so that it is
sufficiently ‘objective, critical and pluralistic’ as to render it capable of
being compulsory without the right of withdrawal.

A NATIONAL PLAN FOR IMPROVING TEACHING AND LEARNING IN RE

We seek views on what should be included in the National Plan for RE,1.
beyond the recommendations set out above.

We seek views on how the National Plan might best be implemented.2.

There are increasing expectations of teachers to be engaged with3.
research, by keeping up to date with published research at minimum, and
where possible by engaging in action research, lesson study and other
forms of practitioner research. We seek views on the kinds of research
which would be most helpful for RE teachers to engage with, and what
mechanisms would support this.

Page 22
Agenda item 3



COMMISSION ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 13

Page 23
Agenda item 3



Report drafter: Amira Chilvers
Report produced for the Commission on Religious Education 
by NCVO-CES

© RE Council September 2017

Religious Education Council of England & Wales
CAN Mezzanine
49–51 East Road
London N1 6AH
020 7250 8166
religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk
facebook.com/religiouseducationcouncil
twitter.com/RECouncil

Page 24
Agenda item 3



The State of the Nation:
A report on Religious
Education provision
within secondary 
schools in England 

Page 25
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 2

Page 26
Agenda item 4



Page   3

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Contents

4 Executive Summary 

9 The Importance of Religious Education in Schools 

14 About the State of the Nation – Report Methodology 

18 School Survey Findings 

29 Teacher Qualifications and Specialism 

37 School Workforce Census Findings 

42 GCSE Entries Findings 

50 Conclusion 

52 Appendix 1 

58 References 

Page 27
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 4

Executive Summary 

Religious Education (RE) is a vibrant,

academically rigorous subject which covers

multiple religious and non-religious

worldviews. RE challenges young people to

explore religion and belief in a way that

enhances their transferable skills of literacy

and reasoning in the classroom and allows

them to gain a better understanding of the

world around them. With the continued

importance of religion and belief in public

life, and substantial media coverage of

issues relating to religion and belief,

whether debates about ethical issues or

coverage of conflicts with religious

elements, it is crucial to ensure that all

young people are religiously literate and

able to understand and question the

accuracy of claims about different belief

systems, regardless of whether they are

themselves religious or not.

The importance of this subject is reflected

in its legal standing. All state-funded

schools, including academies and free

schools, are legally required to provide

Religious Education as part of a balanced

curriculum. 

Page 28
Agenda item 4



Page   5

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Key findings of the State of the Nation 

The State of the Nation report looks at the

extent to which schools in England meet

their statutory requirements to teach RE. It

provides a comparison between schools

where the RE curriculum is determined in

three different ways:

1)   Schools, including some academies,

following an RE curriculum determined

by their religious character;

2)   Academies and other schools such as

Free Schools were the RE is determined

by their funding agreements;

3)   Schools where a locally agreed RE

syllabus must be followed.  

The report argues that it is vital that

students receive a high quality RE. It is

neither educationally, morally or legally

justifiable for schools to provide minimal

time on the school timetable for RE, or to

expect teachers with insufficient training or

expertise to deliver the subject. Neither is it

acceptable for any young person to leave

school without the knowledge and skills

delivered through RE which will allow them

to understand the beliefs and values of our

diverse British society, without which they

will be ill equipped to take their place in the

modern world.  

Findings from this report include: 

■    28% of secondary schools told the

Department for Education that they

gave no dedicated curriculum time to

RE. It is estimated that this equates 

to 800,000 pupils being deprived of

their legal right to learn about major

religions and beliefs, leaving them

without the religious literacy they 

need for life in modern multi-faith

Britain.1

■    The level of provision of RE is largely

dependent on the type of school

pupils attend, leading to widespread

variation across the country. 

■    Schools with a religious character

typically provide a higher level of

provision of RE, suggesting that these

schools place a higher priority on the

subject than other types of school.

96% of schools with a religious

character offer RE at KS4.2 90%

dedicate at least 3% of their timetables

(around 40 minutes a week) to RE at

KS4.3 In addition, 90% of these schools

say that over half of their RE lessons are

taught by a teacher with a relevant post

A-Level qualification.4

■    Academies are the least likely type of

school to offer RE at KS4, with just

73% of schools reporting that they offer

RE at this level5, and just 27% providing

more than 3% curriculum time to RE.6

Page 29
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 6

Just 66% of academies said that over

half of their RE lessons are taught by a

teacher with a relevant post A-Level

qualification.7

■    Schools following a locally agreed

syllabus for RE tend to have higher

levels of provision than academies,

but lower than schools of a religious

character. At KS4, 45% dedicate 3%

or more of their timetables to RE.8 As

these schools convert to academy

status and are no longer required to

follow their locally agreed syllabus,

there is a real concern that their level of

RE provision may drop.  

■    Full course Religious Studies GCSE

students should receive 10%

curriculum time (more than two hours

per week) of RE lessons and pupils

taking the short course GCSE should

spend 5% of curriculum time (one hour)

on this subject.9 This standard is very

rarely met, meaning that RS is not

being treated fairly in comparison

with other GCSE subjects and

students across the country are not

receiving the level of provision they

deserve. 

■    A worrying number of schools are

teaching RE full course on short

course hours. Almost half (42%) of

academies and agreed syllabus schools

(43%) reported that students taking the

full course GCSE receive just one hour

or less per week.10

■    Non-examined RE is often not

sufficient to meet the aims of the

subject and leads to schools simply

not teaching it, which fails pupils. Of

the schools claiming to offer non-

examined RE to Year 11 pupils, 83%

admitted their students receive zero

minutes of teaching per week.11 It may

be that offering RE is done as a tick-box

exercise with schools claiming not to be

resourced effectively in terms of trained

or qualified staff or funding to deliver

appropriate teaching.

■    The number of schools removing

GCSE RS from their curriculum

entirely has risen steadily between

2014 and 2016 (3% overall).12 Schools

with a religious character are least likely

to not enter any pupils for GCSE RS but

more than 14% of academies do not

enter a single pupil for any GCSE in

RS.13

■    Only 47% of academies have at least

75% of their RE lessons taught by a

fully qualified specialist. This

compared to 58% of agreed syllabus

schools. Once again schools with

religious character perform best, with

77% of respondents reporting this

standard.14

■    Students at schools with religious

character are significantly more likely

Page 30
Agenda item 4



Page   7

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

to be taught RE by a teacher with a

relevant post A-Level qualification than

students in an academy, meaning that

once again, academy students are

missing out. 

■    The number of schools entering

between 90 and 100% of their year 11

cohort has fallen steadily from 49%

in 2014 to 45% in 2016.15 This reflects

a move away from entering whole

cohorts for either the short course of

the full course, almost certainly

prompted by the removal of the short

course from accountability measures.16

Summary of recommendations

The Department for Education should: 

1 Hold schools to account for the level of provision and standards of teaching of RE.

2
Encourage ministers to speak about the importance of RE in the curriculum and

about its impact on wider educational outcomes, including on society at large.

3
Issue a clear public statement that it is not acceptable in any circumstances for

a school to be failing to provide RE at any Key Stage as part of its broad and

balanced curriculum.

4

Publish data about RE provision routinely in an accessible format (without the

need to issue Freedom of Information requests) to allow local Standing Advisory

Councils for RE (SACREs) and other bodies to more easily fulfil their duty to

monitor provision for RE in their local area. This data should include school

workforce data and GCSE entries.

5
Clarify and strengthen the mechanisms by which complaints can be made about

schools failing to provide pupils with their entitlement to high quality RE. 

6
Ensure that it is a condition of the successful completion of teacher training that

there is evidence that newly qualified RE teachers have an appropriate level of

RE knowledge, understanding and skills to take up their first post. 

Page 31
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 8

School leaders including headteachers and governors should: 

7
Review the specific requirements for RE provision and ensure that they can

demonstrate that each pupil on the school roll is receiving their entitlement to RE

in each school year.

8
Review the specific content requirements (in particular where they include being

taught an accredited course at Key Stage 4 if that is what is required in the

syllabus).

9
Ensure that all specialist and non-specialist teachers who provide RE have

access to subject specific CPD throughout their career.

10
Ensure that all non-specialist RE teachers who teach RE receive high quality

subject specific training, such as the Teach RE course, before they commence

teaching RE.  

Ofsted should: 

11
Ensure that the level of provision for RE is monitored during routine inspections

with an expectation that the curriculum cannot be considered ‘broad and

balanced’ unless RE is provided.

12 Ensure that all those teaching RE are suitably qualified and/or trained to do so.

13
Review the training of inspectors so that they are aware of specific requirements

for RE in each school that is inspected and can differentiate between strong and

weak provision.

14
Carry out an investigation into the impact of different levels and quality of RE

provision on wider pupil outcomes. 

Parents/Carers should: 

15

Request information about the programme of RE taught at their child’s school (this

should be published on the school website). If RE is not mentioned, or if the

practice does not seem to match the published plan, ask questions or complain if

necessary. 

Page 32
Agenda item 4



Page   9

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

The Importance of Religious
Education in Schools 

RE as a subject 

RE is a vibrant, academically rigorous

subject that has developed significantly in

recent decades. Alongside the subject’s

contribution to pupils’ mental, cognitive and

linguistic development, it offers distinctive

opportunities to promote spiritual, moral,

social and cultural development.17

Covering multiple religious and 

non-religious world views, RE challenges

children to explore religion and belief in a

way that develops the transferable skills of

literacy and reasoning in the classroom and

allows them to gain a better understanding

of the world around them. By developing

knowledge and understanding of different

religions and worldviews in the security of a

classroom, young people have the

opportunity to engage with complex,

diverse, and constantly evolving subject

matter.

The value of RE is recognised by the public

at large. Research into attitudes to RE

conducted by YouGov in 2012 showed that

the public backs RE as a compulsory

subject, with 50% saying it should remain

compulsory and 32% saying it should not.19

At a time where religious extremism plays

such a significant role in the news, it is more

important than ever to be religiously 

literate and to understand and question 

the accuracy of claims about different

faiths. 

Page 33
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 10

“I unexpectedly – but happily – found out I was interested in

Religious Studies when I was doing my GCSE. I have now

completed my A Level and am in the process of starting

a theology and ethics degree at Manchester University.

Religion is the most written about and talked about

subject in the history of humanity. My interest in the

subject evolved as I studied just some of the range of

texts on the curriculum and developed the key academic

skills of independent, critical thinking and analysis –

recognising and appreciating that in a classroom of 30

students, three might be 30 different but equally strongly-held

opinions.  

My studies helped me to understand the logical connection between ideas,

and as my confidence grew I was increasingly able to take part in class

discussions on issues that could sometimes be controversial.

For me, every day introduced new aspects to studying RS that challenged and

stimulated me – from the big, cosmological questions around the existence of

God to situational ethics and the role of religious practices in contemporary

21st century society – and which have allowed me to have a better

understanding of people and the variety of ideas, and have prepared me for

life”.

- Louise Pryah, Haslingden High School

“Religious Education is highly valued and a vital

part of the curriculum we offer”

(Anonymous – school survey response)  

Page 34
Agenda item 4



Page   11

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

The legal basis of RE 

All state-funded schools, including

academies and free schools, are legally

required by the 1998 School Standards and

Framework Act to provide RE as part of a

balanced curriculum.18 This includes

provision for RE for all registered pupils at

the school (including those in the sixth

form), except for those withdrawn by their

parents (or withdrawing themselves if they

are aged 18 or over) in accordance with

Schedule 19 to the School Standards and

Framework Act 1998. 

The key document in determining the

teaching of RE in most schools is the locally

agreed syllabus within the local authority

concerned. Schools, including academies

and free schools, designated as having a

religious character are free to make their

own decisions in preparing their

syllabuses.19 Academies without a religious

character must deliver RE in accordance

with the requirements of their funding

agreement with the Secretary of State.

Local authorities must ensure that the

agreed syllabus for their area is consistent

with Section 375(3) of the Education Act

1996, which requires the syllabus to reflect

that the religious traditions of Great Britain

are in the main Christian, whilst taking

account of the teaching and practices of the

other principal religions represented in

Great Britain. 

Schools are not obliged to provide RE to

pupils who are under compulsory school

age, although there are many instances of

good practice where RE is taught to these

pupils. Separate legislative provision on RE

is made for maintained special schools.20

Regulations covering maintained special

schools require them to ensure that, as far

as practicable, a pupil receives RE.21

Agreed syllabus schools, including

community, foundation and voluntary-aided

or voluntary-controlled schools without a

religious character: RE must be taught

according to the locally agreed syllabus

adopted by the local authority by which the

school is maintained.22

Schools with religious character,

including foundation and voluntary-

controlled schools with a religious

character: RE provision is to be provided in

accordance with the locally agreed

syllabus. However, where the parent of any

pupil at the school requests that RE is

provided in accordance with provisions of

the trust deed relating to the school (or,

where there is no provision in the trust

deed, in accordance with the religion or

denomination mentioned in the order

designating the school as having a religious

character), then the governors must make

arrangements for ensuring that RE is

provided to the pupil in accordance with the

relevant religion for up to two periods a

week unless they are satisfied that there are

special circumstances which would make it

unreasonable to do so.23

Page 35
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 12

In voluntary-aided schools with a religious

character, RE is to be determined by the

governors and in accordance with the

provisions of the trust deed relating to the

school or, where there is no provision in the

trust deed, with the religion or denomination

mentioned in the order designating the

school as having a religious character.

However, where parents prefer their children

to receive RE in accordance with the locally

agreed syllabus, and they cannot

reasonably or conveniently send their

children to a school where the syllabus is in

use, then the governing body must make

arrangements for RE to be provided to the

children within the school in accordance

with the locally agreed syllabus unless they

are satisfied that there are special

circumstances which would make it

unreasonable to do so. If the local authority

is satisfied that the governing body is

unwilling to make such arrangements, 

the local authority must make them

instead.xxiv

Academies: Academies are all-ability,

state-funded schools managed by

independent sponsors, established under

Section 482 of the Education Act 1996.

Some academies have a religious character.

All academies are required, through their

funding agreements, to teach RE. 

The Funding Agreement for an Academy

without a religious designation states that

it must arrange for RE to be given to all

pupils in accordance with the requirements

for agreed syllabuses that are set out in

section 375(3) of the Education Act 1996

and paragraph (5) of Schedule 19 to the

School Standards and Framework Act

1998. This means a syllabus that “reflects

the fact that the religious traditions in Great

Britain are, in the main, Christian whilst

taking account of the teaching and

practices of the other principal religions

represented in Great Britain”. It also means

that an academy without a religious

designation must not provide an RE

syllabus to pupils by means of any

catechism or formulary which is distinctive

of any particular religious denomination.

This gives an academy without a religious

designation the freedom to design its own

RE syllabus (within those constraints) and

not be bound by the specific locally agreed

syllabus that maintained schools are

required to follow. However, academies are

free to follow the locally agreed syllabus if

they choose or they can choose another

from a different local authority area. 

Foundation or voluntary controlled schools

with a religious designation that convert

to academies must arrange for RE in

accordance with the requirements for

agreed syllabuses (in the main Christian

whilst taking account of the other principal

religions etc. as set out above) unless any

parents request that their children receive

RE in accordance with the tenets of the

school’s faith. If any parents do request this,

the academy must make arrangements for

those children to receive such RE unless,

Page 36
Agenda item 4



Page   13

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

because of special circumstances, it would

be unreasonable to do so. The Funding

Agreement sets this out (by applying the

relevant provisions of the Education Act

1996 and the School Standards and

Framework Act 1998). In practice, these

academies generally choose to follow the

locally agreed syllabus.25

RECOMMENDATION 7: 

School leaders should review specific requirements for

RE provision and ensure that they can demonstrate that

each pupil on the school roll is receiving their RE

entitlement in each school year. 

RECOMMENDATION 8: 

Schools leaders should review the specific content

requirements (in particular where they include being

taught an accredited course at Key Stage 4 if that is

what is required in the syllabus). 

Page 37
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 14

About the State of the Nation –
Report Methodology 

The aim of this State of the Nation report is

to draw together existing data sets, and

supplement them with new survey material,

in order to demonstrate the current levels of

provision of RE across the country. The

report focuses exclusively on secondary

school provision. 

The State of the Nation Report’s findings

are based on three data sets. 

1)   School survey

The first data set that this report is based on

is a direct survey of schools about their RE

provision. This survey was carried out online

with all secondary schools in England

emailed an invitation to participate. This

survey was carried out by the National

Association of Teachers of Religious

Education (NATRE), The Religious Education

Council of England and Wales (REC) and RE

Today Services. The schools that provided

responses were then cross-referenced using

Page 38
Agenda item 4



Page   15

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

their unique reference number (URN) in

EduBase, which allowed the responses to

be filtered and categorised into different

groups to aid analysis.

A total of 790 responses were received. 318

were from schools where a locally agreed

syllabus applies, 93 were from schools with

religious character (including Academies

where a Diocesan or ‘faith-based’ syllabus

applies), and 139 were from academies

without a religious character (but where the

funding agreement determines the

requirement for RE provision). At the

remaining 240 schools the means by which

the schools RE is determined could not be

identified. Data from these 240 schools has

only been included in the report analysis

where relevant. 

By comparing the sample of schools in the

school survey with information on EduBase,

it was found that schools with a locally

agreed syllabus were overrepresented in

the sample (accounting for 56% of schools

in the sample, while making up only 24% 

of secondary schools nationally), 

schools with religious character were

relatively accurately represented

(accounting for 19% of schools in the

sample, while making up 18% of secondary

schools nationally), but academies without

a religious character were significantly

underrepresented (58% nationally and 25%

within this data set). 

Whilst the overall sample generated by the

school survey is not perfectly

representative, the types of schools that are

under-represented are those that (where

they have answered) have the worst levels

of provision. This means that the picture of

RE provision generated by the school

survey is likely to under-emphasise the

scale of the problem. While the school

survey provides alarming figures for the

degree to which schools are failing to meet

their legal obligations to provide RE, this

deeply concerning snapshot is, if anything,

a conservative under-estimate of the degree

of non-compliance.  

2)   School Workforce Census data for

the years 2010-2015 

The second data set that this report draws

on is the school workforce data collected

from schools by the Department for

Education (DfE) between 2010-2015. This

specific data set was obtained following

discussions with the DfE and a Freedom of

Information Request on 4th February 2017

by the National Association of Teachers of

RE. 

The following data was requested from

each secondary school that admits

secondary aged pupils in England, for each

of the five years 2010-2015 and for each

year group: 

■    the number of hours of RE taught

(including those where the information

Page 39
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 16

provided would be ‘no response’ or the

response is zero);

■    the number of hours taught to the year

group;

■    the percentage of the hours taught in a

school week that is RE focussed.

The School Workforce Census collects

curriculum information from a large sample

of secondary schools. Curriculum

information is requested from all secondary,

middle deemed secondary and all-through

schools, including relevant academy

schools, with the timetabling software that

interfaces with their Management

Information System. In 2015 2,909

secondary schools provided curriculum

information. However, not all schools

provided complete curriculum information.

We found that 787 schools (28%) of all the

2,793 Census schools reported that they

gave no time to RE. We then multiplied that

figure by the average state secondary

school size (1,000) to reach a figure of

800,000 pupils being deprived of their legal

right to RE.

3)   Data on entries for GCSE Religious

Studies for the years 2014-2016

The third data set on which this report is

based is the Department for Education’s

(DfE) data on GCSE entries.  This was

obtained following a Freedom of

Information Request on 11th April 2017 by

the National Association of Teachers of RE.

The following data was requested from

each school that admits secondary aged

pupils in England, for each of the three

years 2014-2016:

■    The percentage of the year 11 cohort

entered for:

      1. Full course Religious Studies GCSE

      2. Short course Religious Studies

GCSE

      3. No GCSE in Religious Studies

■    The percentage of pupils achieving a

grade within the range A*-C as a

proportion of those entering:

      ■ Full course Religious Studies GCSE

only

      ■ Short course Religious Studies

GCSE only

The 2015 data includes information from

2,856 secondary schools but some data is

suppressed to protect confidentiality. This

is the case where there are only one or two

entries and it might be possible to identify

an individual. This does not have a

significant effect on the analysis.

Page 40
Agenda item 4



Page   17

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Categorising the data

For the purpose of interrogating the various

data sets and making useful comparisons,

this report categories schools into the

following three groups:

1.  Agreed Syllabus:

Schools where a local

Agreed Syllabus

applies. Includes: 

■    Community Schools

■    Foundation Schools 

■    Voluntary Aided

Schools without a

religious character 

■    Voluntary Controlled

Schools 

2.  Religious Character:

Schools including

Academies where a

Diocesan or ‘faith-

based’ syllabus applies.

Includes:

■    Sponsor-Led

Academies with a

religious character 

■    Voluntary Aided

Schools with a

religious character 

■    Church of England,

Roman Catholic and

other faith-based

Academies -

sponsored and not

sponsored 

3. Academies:

Academies without a

religious character

where the funding

agreement states the

requirement for the

provision for RE –

including:

■    Free Schools

■    Academy sponsor

led without a

religious character 

The State of the Nation report was commissioned and produced by the

National Association of Teachers of Religious Education (NATRE), The

Religious Education Council of England and Wales (REC) and RE Today

working in a joint venture as the RE PR Group.

Page 41
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 18

School survey findings 

Level of provision

All schools (as specified in the earlier

chapter on legal obligations) must teach RE.

This can be provided through a variety of

formats; including, for pupils at KS4, a

number of examined options – GCSE RS full

course and short course – as well as non-

examined religious education. This does not

mean that schools can ‘provide RE’ as a

tick-box exercise. Schools have a

responsibility to ensure that teaching hours

for this subject are sufficient to cover the

curriculum and meet subject aims. RE is a

rigorous and academic subject that covers

a substantial volume of specialist material:

it is not possible to do justice to the subject

if it is not given sufficient curriculum time,

and a cursory study of RE denies students

the opportunity to develop the religious

literacy necessary for life in modern Britain.

Lack of provision  

Despite the clear legal and contractual

obligations schools have to teach RE, the

results of the school survey of secondary

schools found that 25% of all schools do

not offer RE to all students at KS4.26 This

lack of provision is likely to be driven by a

range of factors. The exclusion of RS from

Page 42
Agenda item 4



Page   19

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

“Disappointed in the way RE is being pushed to

one side even though we are a statutory subject”

(Anonymous – school survey response)  

the Ebacc, the removal of short course

GCSE from performance tables and a lack

of vocal support for the subject from

government ministers has meant that some

headteachers have felt unable to prioritise

the subject: without support from heads and

senior leaders the subject has become

vulnerable. 

The exclusion of all short course GCSEs

from the Department for Education’s

performance tables has led to a dramatic fall

in entries for the short course in RS, down

over 80% since 2010.27 This has had a

particularly significant effect on RE as this

was the way many schools ensured pupils

received their RE provision. In some schools

the lack of available appropriately qualified

teachers to provide the lessons has

encouraged schools to cut the subject. The

lack of repercussions for any school failing

to meet their statutory duties to offer RE has

made it easier for schools to make these

cuts and the subject has suffered as a result.  

Provision of RE varies significantly between

types of school. 96% of schools with

religious character offer RE at Key Stage

4.28 This is likely to reflect the status that RE

has within these schools as an 

important and academically significant

subject. 

In contrast to this, academies have a much

lower level of provision of RE at KS4, with

just 73% of schools reporting that they

offer RE at all at this level, suggesting that

using the academies funding agreement to

require it to make suitable provision for RE

is not always an effective way to ensure that

pupils are able to study the subject.29  Whilst

the freedoms bestowed upon academies

allow for flexibility in designing certain

elements of a curriculum, it is important that

academies are fully aware of their obligation

to provide RE, and make provision

accordingly. 

Schools following a locally agreed

syllabus for RE tend to have higher levels

of provision than academies, but lower

than schools of a religious character.30  

As these schools convert to academy status

and are no longer required to follow their

locally agreed syllabus, there is a real

concern that their level and quality of RE

provision may drop. The Government must

ensure that the structure put in place works

Page 43
Agenda item 4



for academy converters to ensure that they

are able to provide an appropriate level and

quality of RE.  

The issue of many schools failing to make

appropriate provision for RE at Key Stage 4

is underlined by the findings of the school

survey.  Schools were asked about the

nature of their RE provision at KS4.  In 72%

of schools all of the pupils study RE.  In

19% of schools some of the pupils study

RE but others do not.  In 9% of the schools

there are no pupils studying RE at all.

The figure above shows that 28% of

schools do not make full RE provision for all

students in breach of their legal obligation,

echoing our earlier findings on the level of

non-compliance.31

All pupils, no matter what type of school

they attend, have the right to receive RE. It

is unfair for pupils that the type of school

they attend can have such a substantial

impact on their chances of being offered the

option of taking Religious Studies at GCSE.

Given that the problem of ensuring that

legal requirements to offer RE appears to be

particularly acute at academies, steps

should be taken to provide them with the

support they need to be  able to meet their

statutory and contractual obligations.  If

more schools that currently follow locally

agreed syllabuses become academies then 

this will become even more necessary.

Non-examined RE

Schools do not have to offer an 

examined course in RE to meet their legal

obligations. Depending on the Agreed

Syllabus followed it is sometimes possible

to offer a non-examined course in RE,

taught at an appropriate level and to a high

standard. Nonetheless, these non-

examined courses should still meet the

recommended curriculum time (5%). The

school survey found, however, that non-

examined RE is often insufficient and in

many cases those schools claiming to

offer a non-examined RE course also

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 20

Describing provision for RE in

schools at Key Stage 4 in England

19%

9%

72%

All pupils study RE

Some pupils study RE, others do not 

No pupils study RE 

Page 44
Agenda item 4



Page   21

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

reveal that they spend no time teaching

it. 

Of the schools claiming to offer non-

examined RE to pupils in year 11, 83%

admitted that their non-examined year 11

RE students received zero minutes of

teaching per week.32 In addition, just 3%

of schools with religious character, 1% of

academies and no agreed syllabus schools

report more than 60 minutes of teaching per

week on non-examined RE.33 There are still

relatively few schools providing 31-60

minutes of teaching per week for non-

examined RE: just 11% of academies, 3%

of schools with religious character and 6%

of agreed syllabus schools.34 It is clear that

non-examined RE is not associated with an

adequate number of minutes of teaching

per week, no matter what the school type.

In all but a handful of cases, if a school

is not offering full or short course GCSE

RS at key stage 4, the provision of RE is

not sufficient and the school will almost

certainly be in breach of their legal

obligations.

In some schools, it may be that the official

claim is that they are offering RE through

another subject, such as PSHE or in a

registration session, but this practice is

often not adequate to be able to deliver

appropriate teaching, especially when

teachers with other specialisms, who do not

have sufficient training or subject expertise,

are responsible for the lessons. Non-

examined RE should not be used as a tick-

box exercise as a means for schools to

appear to meet their statutory obligations.

All children have a right to an effective and

informative education, and it is deeply unfair

on the young people whose schools simply

do not provide any meaningful teaching on

this subject. 

“I don’t want to offer KS4 compulsory non-

examined because it won’t be taken seriously” 

(Anonymous – school survey response)  

Page 45
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 22

Curriculum time based on school type 

The Ofqual register of qualifications states

that full course Religious Studies (RS)

GCSE students should receive between

120-140 teaching hours which equates to

10% of curriculum time (more than two

hours per week) of RE lessons, an amount

OFSTED CASE STUDY: 

Successfully involving students in learning RE through a non-examined course 

About the programme: Broughton

Business and Enterprise College actively

involved students in their learning in RE

through an imaginative curriculum, high

quality teaching, and a lively programme

of enrichment activities. The aim of this

initiative was to ensure that all students

would leave with knowledge, skills and

attitudes to prepare them for their adult

lives.

How it worked: The RE curriculum was

designed to ensure that it supported the

overall approach to the subject by

allowing for genuine challenge and

sustained enquiry.

In Year 7, RE was taught as part of a

Humanities programme with RE-focused

units taught for five lessons a week for

two weeks every half-term. One teacher

led all three humanities subjects with

their class. In addition there were

integrated units to which RE made a

contribution. In Year 8, the three

humanities subjects were taught

separately with specialist staff on a

carousel programme. Students spent

four hours a week on RE for three weeks,

four times a year. And in Year 9, students

had the more traditional one period a

week of RE across the whole year.

At Key Stage 4, the full-course GCSE

was offered in an open-option process

and up-take was good. All students had

a non-examined core programme, which

proved popular. Because of the high

quality of the experience of RE at Key

Stage 3, students knew what to expect

and they valued the enrichment time to

discuss and reflect without the pressure

of an examination: RE for RE’s sake!

Outcome: Students felt that the course

did not tell them what to believe, but

made them think about their values. This

school was recognised through the

award of a national Gold Standard RE

Quality Mark in 2012.35

Page 46
Agenda item 4



Page   23

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

comparable to other GCSE full course

subjects, with the expectation of 5% of

curriculum (one hour) for short course

students.36 The school survey has found

that this standard is very rarely met,

meaning that students across the country

are not receiving the level of provision

they deserve. 

There remains an unacceptable level of

provision across all school types in terms of

timetabled contact hours for those students

in Key Stage 4 who are studying for the full

course. 

The school survey shows that a worrying

number of schools are teaching RE full

course on short course hours.38 18% of

schools with religious character are failing

to provide even 5% timetabled hours for the

full course (around one hour a week). This

rises to 42% of academies and 43% of

schools with an agreed syllabus where

Summary of findings from the school survey:37

■    In Year 10:

      ■ 45% of agreed syllabus schools stated that their full course Year 10

students receive just 60 minutes or less of teaching per week;

      ■ 14% of schools with religious character stated that their full course

Year 10 students receive 60 minutes or less of teaching per week; 

      ■ 39% of academies stated that their full course Year 10 students

receive 60 minutes or less of teaching per week. 

■    In Year 11:

      ■ 41% of agreed syllabus schools stated that their full course Year 11

students receive just 60 minutes or under of teaching per week;

      ■ 22% of schools with religious character stated that their full course

Year 11 students receive 60 minutes or less of teaching per week; 

      ■ 45% of academies stated that their full course Year 11 students

receive just 60 minutes or under of teaching per week. 

Page 47
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 24

“RE is side-lined along with the Arts subjects 

due to more timetabling for EBacc subjects”

(Anonymous – school survey response)  

pupils who are undertaking the full course

GCSE receive one hour or less per week,

when they should be receiving at least two

hours of formal RE contact time.  This

demonstrates that a significant number of

schools are expecting teachers to prepare

students for a full course RE in the time

expected for a short course or even less.

The result is that many students are

entering GCSE examinations having had

significantly fewer lessons than many of

their counterparts. They also receive fewer

lessons than pupils studying similar

subjects such as history or geography. 

This is likely to be the result of a number of

reasons, including pressures on staff

numbers and available time-table hours. At

a time when many schools are finding their

budgets increasingly squeezed, subjects

which are considered lower priorities are

often the first to suffer cuts; including RE.

Even more concerning, the school survey

has uncovered a significant number of

secondary schools which fail to even

provide 3% curriculum time for any type of

course. Any school offering less than 3%

would be deemed a problem school in

terms of their RE provision.

For Key Stage 4 full course students:40

■    25% of academies provide less than

3% timetable time for RE

■    25% of agreed syllabus schools provide

less than 3% timetable time for RE

■    7% of schools with religious character

provide less than 3% timetable time for

RE

Once again Key Stage 4 students studying

full course at a school with religious

character are significantly more likely to

receive an acceptable amount of teaching

time than their counterparts in academies

or schools with an agreed syllabus.  

Page 48
Agenda item 4



Page   25

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Tackling non-compliance 

In too many cases, there are no

consequences for those schools that

actively, or unintentionally flout their legal

obligation, as RE does not feature in

measures such as the EBacc and

performance tables which are used to hold

schools to account. 

In England, the DfE measures and reports

on school performance, thereby

incentivising schools to provide teaching

and qualifications in a restricted list of

subjects, known as the EBacc. RS GCSE,

however, is excluded from the EBacc,

meaning that an important incentivisation

mechanism is lost. This is in contrast to the

system in Wales, where the Government did

not introduce the EBacc and instead

measures school performance in terms of 5

A*-C grades which must include Maths and

either English or Welsh, but which otherwise

can include any subject including RS. The

result of this is that GCSE entry numbers

have continued to rise in Wales while they

have begun to fall in England.41

The Government needs to refine school

accountability measures to prevent them

acting as a disincentive to RE provision.

Ofsted inspectors should be equipped for

school visits with information about the

form of RE provision that they should

expect to see at the specific school, alerted

where prior data suggests there might be a

problem and sufficiently trained to make

judgements about the quality of outcomes

they might evidence through pupil work and

conversations and in classrooms. 

Further to this, it is important to ensure a

clear process is in place for escalating and

dealing with concerns about the level and

quality of provision of RE in schools.

Schools should have a clear process for

dealing with complaints. The DfE should be

responsible for ensuring schools are aware

of the need to have a process, and 

should clarify how such a process should

work.  

Dealing with a complaint 

In order to maximise compliance, the DfE

must hold schools to account for the level

of provision and standards of teaching of

RE. This report demonstrates the need for

data on school performance to be closely

monitored and acted upon by the DfE. This

should, however, go further; the DfE should

make data about RE routinely available

without the need for a Freedom of

Information Request, in order to allow local

Standing Advisory Councils for RE

(SACREs), parents, students and other

interested parties to understand how a

school is performing and take action to

raise a complaint if necessary.  The data

that should be made routinely available

should include school workforce data and

GCSE entry data (for both full and short

course) – both at school level. 

Page 49
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 26

It is important to have a clear process for

dealing with complaints and to ensure that

schools are aware of this process. A

complaint can be made by anyone

(including students, parents and teachers)

and can be on a wide range of issues,

including failure to provide adequate RE. All

schools are required to have a complaints

policy so that anyone is able to make a

complaint and have it dealt with

appropriately. The current process usually

follows the following pattern: 

■    When a complaint is made, generally

the headteacher will informally try to

settle the complaint. 

■    If no settlement can be achieved, then

a formal complaint can be made to the

headteacher in writing.

■    Should the complaint fail to be

resolved, it would then be escalated to

the board of governors. 

■    Should the complainant be dissatisfied

with the outcome of the decision made

by the governors, then schools

complaints policies often provide for the

complainant to appeal to a panel of

governors (it should be noted that not

all schools will have an appeal panel).

■    Should the complainant remain

dissatisfied, the complaint would be

escalated to the Secretary of State for

Education. 

NATRE tested this process in 2017. In doing

so, the Secretary of State, through the

Department for Education, has

demonstrated a willingness to intervene

when necessary in resolving complaints

about a school failing to make appropriate

provision for RE.  

RECOMMENDATION 1: 

The DfE should hold schools to account for the level of provision

and standards of teaching RE. 

RECOMMENDATION 3: 

The DfE should issue a clear public statement that it is not

acceptable in any circumstances for a school to fail to provide RE

at any Key Stage as part of its broad and balanced curriculum. 

Page 50
Agenda item 4



Page   27

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

The role of Ofsted 

Ofsted has a role in inspecting and

regulating services that care for children

and young people, and services providing

education and skills for learners of all ages.

Inspections are conducted using a

framework for inspection. 

In order to inspect RE provision, inspectors

need to understand the specific

requirements relating to the provision of RE

for different school types, and should

ensure that every school they inspect can

provide evidence of quality of RE provision.

This is essential in order to ensure that

schools do not flout their responsibilities

and young people do not miss out on their

entitlement to high quality RE. Non-

compliance must be reported in Ofsted

reports. 

RECOMMENDATION 5: 

The DfE should clarify and strengthen the mechanisms by which

complaints can be made about schools failing to provide pupils

with their entitlement to high quality RE. 

RECOMMENDATION 11:  

Ofsted should ensure that the level of provision for RE is

monitored during routine inspections with an expectation that the

curriculum cannot be considered ‘broad and balanced’ unless RE

is provided. 

RECOMMENDATION 15: 

Parents/Carers should request information about the programme of

RE taught at their child’s school (this should be published on the

school website). If RE is not mentioned, or if the practice does not

seem to match the published plan, ask questions or complain if

necessary. 

Page 51
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 28

RECOMMENDATION 12: 

Ofsted should ensure that all those teaching RE are suitably

qualified and/or trained to do so.

RECOMMENDATION 13: 

Ofsted should review the training of inspectors so that they are

aware of specific requirements for RE in each school that is

inspected and can differentiate between strong and weak provision. 

RECOMMENDATION 14: 

Ofsted should carry out an investigation into the impact of different

levels and quality of RE provision on wider pupil outcomes. 

Page 52
Agenda item 4



Page   29

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Teacher Qualifications 
and Specialism

In addition to access to RE, students have

a right to receive high quality RE, taught by

highly qualified and well-trained teachers no

matter what type of school they attend or

where in the country their school is 

located. 

The type of school again has a significant

impact on the likelihood of a student to be

taught by a specialist RE teacher. Students

at a school with religious character are

significantly more likely to be taught RE

by a teacher with a relevant post A-Level

qualification than students in an academy,

meaning that once again academy students

are missing out. 90% of schools with

religious character reported that over half of

RE lessons are taught by a teacher with a

relevant post A-Level qualification, while

this is the case in just 66% of academies.42

Agreed syllabus schools fall somewhere in

between the two, with 73%  of lessons

taught by a teacher with a relevant post A-

Level qualification, suggesting that you are

more likely to get a trained RE teacher in an

agreed syllabus school than an academy,

but still not as likely as in a school with

religious character.  

Page 53
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 30

The school survey asked “what
percentage of Religious Education
lessons at your school are taught by a
teacher with a relevant post-A-level
qualification (degree or PGCE in
Theology/Religious Studies/Philosophy
etc.)”? These charts show how

significantly the likelihood of being
taught RE by an appropriately qualified
teacher changes in different types of
school.  

Agreed Syllabus

Academies

45%

40%

35%

30%

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%

35%

30%

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%

0% >0%
lessons
<25%

25%
lessons
≤50%

>50%
lessons
≤75%

>75%
lessons
<100%

100% Do not
know 

0% >0%
lessons
<25%

25%
lessons
≤50%

>50%
lessons
≤75%

>75%
lessons
<100%

100% Do not
know 

Page 54
Agenda item 4



Page   31

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Recruitment of RE specialist teachers

There are two ways to become a specialist

RE teacher: firstly through being trained,

and secondly though gaining experience of

teaching the subject. 

Students who receive RE from a specialist

teacher are more likely to receive higher

quality teaching than students who are

taught by non-specialist teachers. 

Religious Character

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

0% >0%
lessons
<25%

25%
lessons
≤50%

>50%
lessons
≤75%

>75%
lessons
<100%

100% Do not
know 

“Serious concerns about future staffing and

delivery of new specification due to limited 

teacher specialists. Hard to cover content and

many classes taught by non-specialists who 

are struggling to understand new concepts”

(Anonymous – school survey response)  

Page 55
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 32

The Beyond the Ordinary Campaign 

The Religious Education Council was

concerned by the continued fall in

numbers of trainee secondary RE

teachers. After bursaries for RE teacher

trainees were removed for 2013/14,

recruitment had dropped to just 71% of

the Government target.  As a result, the

Religious Education Council, NATRE and

others campaigned for the restoration of

the bursaries.

The Department for Education did

reintroduce RE training bursaries, in

October 2014. With RE bursaries ranging

from £4,000 to £9,000 (compared with up

to £30,000 for other subjects), growing

disillusionment within the teaching

profession, and the Government’s Get

Into Teaching campaign focused on

attracting STEM subject teachers, the

challenge was to 7inspire potential

candidates about teaching a stimulating,

fascinating subject.  

The Religious Education Council,

supported by NATRE  and the Association

of University Lecturers in Religion and

Education, therefore launched the

“Beyond the Ordinary” campaign to try

and attract more people to train to

become RE teachers.  The campaign

launched in March 2015, when

applications were still 25% down on the

previous year (960 versus 1,280) despite

the re-introduction of bursaries five

months earlier. It ran until October 2015.   

■    By May (two months after launch) the

decline started to reverse, with

successful applicants up year-on-year

for the first time (from 340 to 350). 

■    By September 2015 RE applications

reached 1,630, closing the deficit by

14 percentage points (from -25% to -

11%) and outperforming all other

subjects as a whole (-15%).  

■    The decline in recruitment was

reversed. By September the number

of trainees placed had increased 8%

versus 2014 (420 versus 390). 

■    Research among trainee RE teachers

in October 2015 (by the Association

of University Lecturers in Religion and

Education) found 38% were aware of

Beyond the Ordinary. Of these, 44%

said their decision to become an RE

teacher was influenced by the

campaign. 

■    The legacy of the campaign continues

today. By February 2016, RE teacher

trainee applications were up 35%

year-on-year. Over the same period 

all secondary teacher trainee

applications were down -2.5%. 

Page 56
Agenda item 4



Page   33

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

The Beyond the Ordinary campaign 

The Beyond the Ordinary campaign reversed

the decline in applications for trainee

secondary RE teachers. By February 2016

applications had increased by a staggering

35% year-on-year.  Despite this success,

changes to bursaries for RE teachers meant

that the number of 2017 applications is down,

as demonstrated by the following graphs:  

Applications

RS ITT Application 2014-2017

N.B. 2017 figures at 21.08.17

Number of applicants places compated with DfE target 2014-2017

N.B. 2017 figures = Placed or Conditionally Places at 21.08.17

1900

1850

1800

1750

1700

1650

1600

1550

1500

1450

2014

1630

Beyond the
Ordinary Campaign

1610

1840

2015 2016 2017

2014

Placed Government target

Beyond the
Ordinary Campaign

2015 2016 2017

1850

537

386

Placed v Government Target

700

600

500

400

300

200

100

0

650

413

544

435

643

450

Page 57
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 34

It is evident that steps can be taken to

improve the number of applications for RE

teacher training.  The Beyond the Ordinary

Campaign, entirely funded by the RE

community, greatly contributed to the peak

in number of applications to 1,840 in 2016.

The drop in applications in 2017 to 1,610

suggests that more effort needs to be made

to encourage applications. The end of

funding for the Beyond the Ordinary

campaign, a decline in application numbers

generally and the fact that the bursary level

is low means that the numbers applying to

be RE teachers are not sufficient to meet

demand. 

Incentivisation mechanisms, such as

bursaries, play an important role in

encouraging a higher number of

applications for RE, and should be

promoted to students considering a career

in teaching. At a time where people’s

worldviews are increasingly complex, it is

vital to ensure that appropriately trained,

specialist RE teachers are available to

encourage religious literacy and 

encourage honest and open dialogue about

the religions and beliefs that we live

amongst. 

The school survey found that where RE

specialist roles exist within schools, very

few have vacancies. This suggests that RE

specialist teachers are valued and

recognised as essential to the delivery of

good RE. However, it might also suggest

that schools are cutting the number of RE

specialist posts, relying instead on teachers

with other specialisms to teach the subject.

In fact, the school survey found that in 49%

of secondary schools fewer than half of

the RE lessons are taught by a teacher

with a relevant post A-Level

qualification.43

Training non-specialist teachers 

More than twice as many teachers of RE

(56%) as History (28%) have no post-A

level qualification in the subject as

demonstrated by the DfE School Workforce

Data 2015.44  Even more worrying, the

situation has deteriorated even further from

2014 in both Religious Education and

Geography. 

Whilst in principle it might not be a problem

for a teacher qualified in another related

subject, to retrain to teach RE, it is of crucial

importance to ensure that anyone teaching

RE receives training in order to ensure they

deliver accurate information to students.

The danger of having inadequately training

non-specialist teachers teaching RE could

be severe in terms of perpetuating

inaccuracies about religions or beliefs.  

It is equally unacceptable for schools where

there is one specialist RE teacher to expect

them to plan lessons for non-specialist

teachers who then deliver the RE lesson.

This has serious implications for teachers’

workloads and once again this risks the

Page 58
Agenda item 4



Page   35

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

accuracy of any discussion that is able to

take place within the classroom. 

The school survey found that 15% of

academies reported that no RE lessons

were taught by a teacher with a relevant

post A-Level qualification, suggesting that

these schools are not putting a high priority

on securing staff with relevant

qualifications, but are making simple

provisions to meet their statutory or

contractual requirements.45 It is likely that

schools of all types that fail to provide

training for non-specialist RE teachers

teaching RE are failing to take their duty to

religiously educate their students seriously

and placing them at risk of not having their

questions answered appropriately or

accurately. 

Training must be provided for all non-

specialist teachers who deliver RE lessons,

before they commence teaching any RE

lessons; for example completion of the

Teach RE course.46 It is surely a students’

entitlement that they are educated by a

teacher who has a solid grasp of the subject

which they are teaching so that they are

able to provide a high quality education. 

CASE STUDY: ARK Network Events 

In 2016-17 ARK schools held three full

day network events that involved subject

team training. 

“Subject specialist training is so

important in RE to ensure that the quality

of provision gives our students the

opportunity to develop excellent religious

literacy. With training cuts nationally at

post-graduate level for RE recruitment,

many schools are faced with asking non-

specialists to teach RE. 

With this in mind, it is imperative that

subject knowledge and pedagogical

tools necessary to teach good quality RE

lessons are shared in a collaborative

fashion across a network. Sharing

resources each term lifts a burden off

teachers that have less experience and

are struggling with the demands of new

specifications that require expert subject

knowledge. 

Further to this, where school leaders are

not providing adequate time for the

provision of RE, coming together to

strengthen discussions and proposals

that can be put to school leaders (and

MATs) ensure its profile and status in a

school is upheld.”

Provided by: Adam Whitlock, Senior Leader, Head of

RE Faculty & Collective Worship, ARK Schools 

Page 59
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 36

RECOMMENDATION 9: 

School leaders should ensure that all specialist and non-

specialist teachers who provide RE have access to subject

specific CPD throughout their career. 

RECOMMENDATION 10: 

School leaders have a responsibility to ensure that all non-

specialist RE teachers who teach RE receive high quality subject

specific training, such as the Teach RE course, before they

commence teaching RE.  

RECOMMENDATION 6: 

The DfE should ensure that it is a condition of the successful

completion of teacher training that there is evidence that newly

RE qualified teachers have an appropriate level of RE knowledge,

understanding and skills to take up their first post. 

Page 60
Agenda item 4



Page   37

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

School Workforce Census Findings 

Results of analysis of the school

workforce survey: Provision for RE in

different types of schools 

Since the Dearing Report, The National

Curriculum and its Assessment (1994),

recommended that schools devote at least

5% of curriculum time to RE (just one hour

per week on average), most agreed

syllabuses have either assumed or stipulated

that this would be the time required to meet

the outcomes. There were good reasons for

this recommendation in 1994 which is just as

relevant in 2017 if not more so. The

equivalent of an hour per week is not

unreasonable given the legal expectation set

out in 375 (3) of the Education Act 1996 that

by the end of their school careers, all pupils

in state funded schools will have followed a

continuous programme of learning that

encompasses not only Christianity but

‘teaching and practices of the other principal

religions represented in Great Britain’. It is

often forgotten that although academies and

free schools have a choice over whether or

not to follow a local agreed syllabus, this

requirement is included in their Funding

Agreements with the Department for

Education and so is contractually binding on

them also.  

The development of the GCSE short course

Page 61
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 38

reinforced the expectation that 5% of time

will be provided for RE by building an

accredited course that required 60-70

guided learning hours - i.e. around an hour

per week over two years. 

What proportion of a school’s teaching

hours are dedicated to RE?

Whereas around 28% of all state funded

schools (787 of the 2793 that provided

relevant information in 2015) report that they

are making no provision for RE even though

it is a requirement for all to do so, that figure

varies significantly depending on the type of

school and has increased by 12% since

2011.  

■    At Key Stage 3 (pupils aged 11-13

years), 34% all academies report that

they offer no timetable time for RE at

all. That figure increases to almost 44%

at Key Stage 4 (pupils aged 14-16

years).  

■    This means that pupils attending

academies without a religious

character are half as likely to receive

RE lessons as their peers in local

authority maintained schools where

the law states that a local determined

agreed syllabus must be followed.  

■    However, even given the apparent

protection of the law, in around one in

five local authority maintained

schools where the agreed syllabus

applies, there is no timetable time for

RE in Key Stage 3. In a similar

proportion of these schools, there is no

timetable time for RE in Key Stage 4. 

■    Schools with a religious character are

far more likely to be making provision

at or above the 5% level assumed by

the writers of most agreed syllabuses.

Around 6% of these schools report

making no timetable provision and it is

likely that the majority of these do not

report timetable time for Religious

Education because they give the subject

a title specific to the type of school. 

■    In addition to the schools reporting no

timetable time for RE, many are falling

short of the 5% curriculum time

assumed by the writers of most agreed

syllabuses would be required to meet

the outcomes. Again, this figure varies

by type of school as follows: 

      

      ■    At Key Stage 3 (pupils aged 11-13) the

5% standard is met or exceeded in: 

      ▪   62% of agreed syllabus schools  

      ▪   90% of schools with a Religious

Character  

      ▪   44% of Academies  

       ■    At Key Stage 4: (pupils aged 14-16) the

5% standard is met or exceeded in: 

      ▪   45% of agreed syllabus schools 

      ▪   91% of schools with a religious

character  

      ▪   27% of academies  

Page 62
Agenda item 4



Page   39

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

■    At Key Stage 3 the 5% standard is MET

OR EXCEEDED in 64% of all state

funded schools.

■    At Key Stage 4 the 5% standard is MET

OR EXCEEDED in 50% of all state

funded schools. 

Percentage of curriculum time 

spent on RE in KS3  

Academies

Schools where an Agreed Syllabus applies

Schools with a Religious Character 

Percentage of curriculum time 

spent on RE in KS4  

21.0%

17.2%

4.3%

57.5%

20.7%

34.4%

8.6%

36.3%

3.8%

27.1%

6.4%

62.7%

15.2%

2.9%6.5%

75.3%

5.1%

43.7%

21.4%

29.8%
22.5%

34.1%

3.4%

40.1%

No RE at all Between 0% and 3% Between 3% and 6% More than 6%

Page 63
Agenda item 4



Curriculum time for RE at Key Stage 3

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 40

Agreed Syllabus Schools

Schools with a Religious Character

Academies

0% 20% 40% 60%            80%           100%

No RE at all Between 0% and 3% Between 3% and 6% More than 6%

Curriculum time for RE at Key Stage 4

Agreed Syllabus Schools

Schools with a Religious Character

Academies

0% 20% 40% 60%            80%           100%

No RE at all Between 0% and 3% Between 3% and 6% More than 6%

Page 64
Agenda item 4



Regional Variation in Provision in Different Types of Schools

Page   41

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

National East
Midands

East
England

London North
East

North
West

South
East

South
West

West
Midlands

Yorkshire
and the 
Humber

Agreed Syllabus Religious Character Academies

Page 65
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 42

GCSE Entries Findings

A report on GCSE Entries is produced on an

annual basis by NATRE as part of its work

to support its members in campaigning for

high quality provision for RE for all pupils. In

schools where a local Agreed syllabus

applies, it is common for there to be a

requirement that students follow a GCSE

qualification at Key Stage 4; either short or

full course. Where this regulation applies,

the percentage of entries is an indicator of

the degree to which a school is meeting its

legal requirements, although there are often

good educational reasons why a small

number of pupils in each cohort might not

be entered. The short course is designed to

be taught in 60-70 teaching hours; the

equivalent of about one hour per week over

two years. 

The analysis that follows highlights a

number of issues including different

patterns of entry in different types of school,

regional variations in entries and most

alarming, the number of schools entering no

pupils at all for any Religious Studies GCSE. 

Page 66
Agenda item 4



Percentage of year 11 cohort entered for GCSE *

*Excluding those schools making no entries for any GCSE in RS 

Page   43

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

The number of entries for GCSE has

remained steady over the last three years

however, this figure masks some major

changes to patterns of entry. The number of

schools entering between 90 and 100% of

their year 11 cohort has fallen steadily from

49% in 2014 to 45% in 2016. This reflects

a move away from entering whole cohorts

for either the short course of the full course,

almost certainly prompted by the removal

of the short course from accountability

measures. Those entering 80-90% has also

fallen from 10% in 2014 to 6% in 2016.  

60%

40%

20%

0%

2014 (2,448 schools) 2015 (2,532 schools) 2016 (2,720 schools)

0.1-10% 10.1-20% 20.1-30% 30.1-40% 40.1-50%

50.1-60% 60.1-70% 70.1-80% 80.1-90% 90.1-100%

Page 67
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 44

GCSE Religious Studies Entries in England 2010-2017

To
ta

l 
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

c
a
n

d
id

a
te

s
 e

n
te

re
d

 f
o

r 
th

e
 e

x
a
m

in
a
ti
o

n 50,000

45,000

40,000

35,000

30,000

25,000

20,000

15,000

10,000

5,000

0
2010 2011 2012 2013

Year of Entry

Full course

Short course

Combined 

2014 2015 2016 2017

Page 68
Agenda item 4



Page   45

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Percentage of pupils entered for GCSE RS in 2016 by region -SOUTH

percentage of pupils enered for GCSE RS IN 2016 by

region Midlands and the North

East of England

East Midlands North East North West West Midlands Yorkshire 

and the Humber

1
3

.1
%

1
5

.1
%

9
.1

%
5

.0
%

2
.3

%
4

.0
%

2
.7

%
2

.7
%

4
.0

%
4

1
.9

%

1
8
.5

%
1
5
.8

%
7
.7

%
4
.1

%
2
.7

%
3
.2

%
2
.3

%
1
.8

%
8
.6

%
3
5
.6

%

1
6
.8

%
6
.1

%
6
.9

%
6
.1

%
6
.1

%
3
.8

%
4
.6

%
3
.8

% 8
.4

%
3
7
.4

%

9
.9

%
1
2
.2

%
1
0
.4

%
4
.8

%
3
.8

%
1
.0

%
2
.3

%
3
.0

% 8
.4

%
4
4
.3

%

1
1
.2

%
1
2
.4

%
1
0
.9

%
5

.0
%

3
.4

%
2
.2

%
2
.2

%
1
.6

% 5
.9

%
4
5
.3

%

1
5
.2

%
1
1
.2

%
9
.2

%
5
.6

%
3
.2

%
2
.8

%
4

.8
%

3
.6

% 8
.4

%
3
6
.0

%

1
1

.9
%

6
.4

%
4

.9
%

3
.0

%
1

.5
%

2
.7

%
2

.5
%

3
.5

%
3

.2
%

6
0

.5
%

1
4

.9
%

1
1

.8
%

6
.2

%
4

.1
%

1
.7

%
2

.4
%

3
.8

%
2

.9
% 7
.0

%
4

5
.3

%

1
2

.9
%

1
1

.1
%

7
.9

%
5

.0
%

3
.2

%
2

.1
%

3
.2

%
4

.6
%

3
.9

%
4

6
.1

%

London South East South West

0.1-10% 10.1-20% 20.1-30% 30.1-40% 40.1-50%

50.1-60% 60.1-70% 70.1-80% 80.1-90% 90.1-100%

Page 69
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 46

At the other end of the scale, more schools

are entering smaller groups of pupils, i.e.

those who have opted to study the full

course GCSE. The number of schools

entering between 0.1% and 10% of the

cohort has risen from 7.4% in 2014 to

13.3% in 2016. 

There is a marked difference between types

of schools in relation to the patterns of

entry. Most schools with a religious

character enter almost the whole cohort of

year 11 for a GCSE. In 2014, between 90

and 100% of pupils at 80% of these

schools were entered for a GCSE in RS. In

other types of school, in 2014, half as many

schools entered this proportion of students

(40%) but this figure has fallen to around

36% by 2016. The number of schools

without a religious character entering

between 0 and 10% of their cohorts

increased from around 8% in 2014 to

around 16% in 2016. 

Percentage of year 11 cohort entered 2014 - 2448 Schools

0.1-10% 10.1-20% 20.1-30% 30.1-40% 40.1-50%

50.1-60% 60.1-70% 70.1-80% 80.1-90% 90.1-100%

Academies Agreed Syllabus Religious Character

8
.6

% 1
2
.9

%

7
.9

%

4
.4

%

4
.9

%

3
.4

%

3
.4

%

3
.9

% 1
0
.0

%

4
0
.7

%

8
.8

%

1
2
.8

%

4
.8

%

5
.4

%

4
.1

%

2
.4

%

4
.9

%

4
.5

%

1
2
.2

%

4
0
.0

%

2
.0

%

1
.6

%

1
.4

%

1
.2

%

0
.8

%

0
.8

%

1
.2

%

2
.8

% 8
.2

%

8
0

.0
%

Page 70
Agenda item 4



Page   47

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Percentage of year 11 cohort entered 2015 - 2532 Schools

Percentage of year 11 cohort entered 2016 - 2720 Schools

Academies Agreed Syllabus Religious Character

1
1

.4
%

1
2

.3
%

1
0
.0

%

5
.8

%

4
.7

%

2
.4

%

2
.4

%

3
.3

% 8
.2

%

3
9

.3
%

1
2

.2
%

1
1

.4
%

7
.3

%

5
.1

%

2
.5

%

3
.7

%

3
.8

%

5
.8

% 1
0
.3

%

3
8

.0
%

1
.9

%

1
.9

%

1
.2

%

1
.0

%

0
.2

%

1
.9

%

1
.0

%

2
.1

%

6
.6

%

8
2

.1
%

Academies Agreed Syllabus Religious Character

1
6
.7

%

1
4
.2

%

9
.7

%

5
.9

%

3
.2

%

3
.0

%

3
.4

%

2
.8

%

5
.5

%

3
5
.6

%

1
4
.2

%
 

1
3
.7

%

9
.5

%

5
.0

%

3
.7

%

2
.4

%

3
.3

%

4
.4

%

7
.6

%

3
6
.1

%

0.1-10% 10.1-20% 20.1-30% 30.1-40% 40.1-50%

50.1-60% 60.1-70% 70.1-80% 80.1-90% 90.1-100%

1
.1

%

1
.1

%

1
.8

%

0
.5

%

0
.7

%

1
.5

%

1
.5

%

1
.6

%

5
.9

%

8
2
.2

%

Page 71
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 48

Schools where Religious Studies is not

studied at GCSE level at all 

The number of schools removing GCSE RS

from their curriculum entirely has risen

steadily between 2014 and 2016 (3%

overall). Schools with a religious character

are least likely to not enter any pupils for

GCSE RS but more than 14% of Academies

do not enter a single pupil for any GCSE in

RS.

The ability of students to access RE

teaching is likely to have a direct impact on

the number of entries made for GCSE

examinations. Naturally, this extends to the

number of entries made for A-Level

examinations and the number of entries for

RE within the International Baccalaureate.

This in turn affects to university entries, and

further again, the number of theology and

religious studies graduates, alongside those

in other related disciplines, who might

decide train to teach RE. 

Percentage of Schools of Different Types Making 

No Entries For Any GCSE 2014-16

AcademiesAgreed SyllabusAll Schools Religious Character

7
.6

9
%

8
.8

2
% 1

0
.7

1
%

8
.5

8
%

9
.5

5
%

9
.8

9
%

9
.7

3
%

1
3
.7

9
%

1
4
.0

8
%

0
.9

8
%

2
.1

7
%

2
.3

5
%

2014 2015 2016

Page 72
Agenda item 4



Page   49

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Percentage of the 326 schools with no GCSE RS entries in each region

North East London South West Yorkshire

and the

Humber

East of

England

East

Midlands

North West West 

Midlands

South East

5
.5

%

7
.7

%

7
.7

%

1
0

.7
%

1
1

.7
%

1
2

.3
%

1
3

.5
%

1
4

.7
% 1
6

.3
%

RECOMMENDATION 4: 

The DfE should publish data about RE provision routinely in an

accessible format (without the need to issue Freedom of

Information requests) to allow local Standing Advisory Councils for

RE (SACREs) and other bodies to more easily fulfil their duty to

monitor provision for RE in their local area. This data should

include school workforce data and GCSE entries.

RECOMMENDATION 2: 

The DfE should encourage ministers to speak about the importance

of RE in the curriculum and about its impact on wider educational

outcomes, including on society at large. 

Page 73
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 50

Conclusion

There are many excellent examples of RE

being taught to a high level and quality

across the country and within various

different school types. Where RE is taught

well, it leads to informed discussion around

complex religions and beliefs, thereby

promoting religious understanding and

tolerance. At a time where the UK is

becoming increasingly multicultural, it is

more important than ever for young people

to understand the religions and beliefs of

the communities in the United Kingdom. We

must do our best to ensure that students

leaving school are religiously literate.

The State of the Nation report has

demonstrated that there are problems

around the country with both the level and

quality of provision of RE, meaning that

around 800,000 students are missing out on

the education they are entitled to every year.

This is unacceptable. The DfE, Ofsted and

individual schools must ensure that

provision requirements are met – not just as

a tick-box exercise, but as a means of

genuinely educating young people. This

should be reflected in the curriculum time

dedicated to RE, as well as the investment

in specialist RE teachers. Where it is not

possible to recruit specialist RE teachers,

schools must ensure that any teacher

delivering RE lessons has an appropriate

Page 74
Agenda item 4



Page   51

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

level of training in order to avoid

perpetuating inaccuracies which could

impact on cohesion and inclusivity in

society. 

This State of the Nation report has

highlighted a number of recommendations,

which should be acted upon by the DfE,

Ofsted and school leaders. It is essential

that these recommendations are followed

so that that all pupils in all secondary

schools receive fair access to RE and a high

quality of teaching.   

Page 75
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 52

Appendix

This provides a summary of the answers given in the school

survey for a number of the questions asked which have

been cited in this report. 

Does your school offer Religious Studies to all students 

at Key Stage 4 (KS4)? 

Don’t know No Yes

Agreed Sylllabus 0% 25% 75%

Academies 1% 26% 73%

Religious Character 0% 4% 96%

AcademiesAgreed Syllabus Religious Character

Don’t know No Yes

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

Page 76
Agenda item 4



Page   53

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

How would you describe your school’s Religious Education provision at KS4

for Year 10?

How many teachers currently teaching Religious Education have a relevant post A-

Level qualification (degree or PGCE in Theology/Religious Studies/Philosophy etc.)?

Percentage of RE teachers at each school

with a relevant post A level qualification

Percentage
of schools

0% 9%

1% to 25% 13%

26% to 50% 27%

51% to 75% 19%

76% to 100% 28%

Unknown 3%

No teacher 1%

30%

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%

19%

9%

72%

All pupils study RE

Some pupils study RE, others do not 

No pupils study RE 

0% 1-25% 26-50% 51-75% 76-100% Unknown No

teacher

Page 77
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 54

“What percentage of Religious Education lessons at your school are taught

by a teacher with a relevant post-A-Level qualification (degree or PGCE in

Theology/Religious Studies/Philosophy etc.)”? 

0% >0
%
 le
ss

on
s 
<2

5%

25
%
 le
ss

on
s 
=5

0%

>5
0%

 le
ss

on
s 
=7

5%

>7
5%

 le
ss

on
s 
<1

00
%

10
0%

Do
 n
ot
 k
no

w

Agreed Sylllabus 5.98% 10.26% 9.40% 14.53% 40.17% 17.95% 1.71%

Academies 14.98% 7.37% 9.22% 18.43% 30.88% 16.59% 2.53%

Religious Character 2.90% 2.90% 2.90% 13.04% 59.42% 17.39% 1.45%

All schools 10.89% 7.22% 8.48% 16.96% 36.58% 17.59% 2.28%

Page 78
Agenda item 4



Page   55

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

“How many minutes of Religious Education does each

pupil receive on average each week”? 

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

Year 7

0 minutes 1-30 minutes 31-60 minutes 61-90 minutes 91-120 minutes 120+ minutes

Year 8 Year 9 Year 10

(GCSE  Full

Course)

Year 10

(GCSE  Short

Course)

Year 10

non-exam

Year 11

(GCSE  Full

Course)

Year 11

(GCSE  Short

Course)

Year 11

non-exam

Agreed Syllabus Schools:

How many minutes of Religious Education does

each pupil receive on average each week?

Y
e

a
r 

7

Y
e

a
r 

8

Y
e

a
r 

9

Y
e

a
r 

1
0
 (

G
C

S
E

fu
ll
 c

o
u

rs
e

)

Y
e

a
r 

1
0
 (

G
C

S
E

s
h

o
rt

 c
o

u
rs

e
) 

Y
e

a
r 

1
0
 

n
o

n
-e

x
a

m

Y
e

a
r 

1
1
 (

G
C

S
E

fu
ll
 c

o
u

rs
e

) 

Y
e

a
r 

1
1
 (

G
C

S
E

s
h

o
rt

 c
o

u
rs

e
) 

Y
e

a
r 

1
1
 

n
o

n
-e

x
a

m

0 minutes 6% 5% 5% 24% 78% 74% 24% 87% 79%

1-30 minutes 7% 7% 8% 0% 1% 17% 1% 1% 15%

31-60 minutes 70% 69% 50% 21% 12% 9% 16% 9% 6%

61-90 minutes 10% 14% 17% 7% 1% 0% 10% 1% 0%

91-120 minutes 4% 4% 18% 21% 8% 0% 21% 3% 0%

121+ minutes 3% 1% 2% 27% 1% 0% 28% 0% 0%

Page 79
Agenda item 4



The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

Page 56

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

Year 7

0 minutes 1-30 minutes 31-60 minutes 61-90 minutes 91-120 minutes 120+ minutes

Year 8 Year 9 Year 10

(GCSE  Full

Course)

Year 10

(GCSE  Short

Course)

Year 10

non-exam

Year 11

(GCSE  Full

Course)

Year 11

(GCSE  Short

Course)

Year 11

non-exam

Schools with a religious character:

How many minutes of Religious Education does

each pupil receive on average each week?

Y
e

a
r 

7

Y
e

a
r 

8

Y
e

a
r 

9

Y
e

a
r 

1
0
 (

G
C

S
E

fu
ll
 c

o
u

rs
e

)

Y
e

a
r 

1
0
 (

G
C

S
E

s
h

o
rt

 c
o

u
rs

e
) 

Y
e

a
r 

1
0
 

n
o

n
-e

x
a

m

Y
e

a
r 

1
1
 (

G
C

S
E

fu
ll
 c

o
u

rs
e

) 

Y
e

a
r 

1
1
 (

G
C

S
E

s
h

o
rt

 c
o

u
rs

e
) 

Y
e

a
r 

1
1
 

n
o

n
-e

x
a

m

0 minutes 0% 0% 1% 4% 91% 87% 10% 93% 93%

1-30 minutes 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 1%

31-60 minutes 23% 23% 12% 10% 0% 7% 12% 0% 3%

61-90 minutes 12% 16% 13% 9% 6% 4% 9% 6% 3%

91-120 minutes 42% 38% 43% 32% 0% 0% 28% 1% 0%

121+ minutes 23% 23% 30% 45% 3% 1% 42% 0% 0%

Page 80
Agenda item 4



Page   57

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

Year 7

0 minutes 1-30 minutes 31-60 minutes 61-90 minutes 91-120 minutes 120+ minutes

Year 8 Year 9 Year 10

(GCSE  Full

Course)

Year 10

(GCSE  Short

Course)

Year 10

non-exam

Year 11

(GCSE  Full

Course)

Year 11

(GCSE  Short

Course)

Year 11

non-exam

Acadamies:

How many minutes of Religious Education does

each pupil receive on average each week?

Y
e

a
r 

7

Y
e

a
r 

8

Y
e

a
r 

9

Y
e

a
r 

1
0
 (

G
C

S
E

fu
ll
 c

o
u

rs
e

)

Y
e

a
r 

1
0
 (

G
C

S
E

s
h

o
rt

 c
o

u
rs

e
) 

Y
e

a
r 

1
0
 

n
o

n
-e

x
a

m

Y
e

a
r 

1
1
 (

G
C

S
E

fu
ll
 c

o
u

rs
e

) 

Y
e

a
r 

1
1
 (

G
C

S
E

s
h

o
rt

 c
o

u
rs

e
) 

Y
e

a
r 

1
1
 

n
o

n
-e

x
a

m

0 minutes 6% 7% 8% 23% 88% 71% 27% 89% 76%

1-30 minutes 6% 5% 6% 0% 0% 13% 0% 0% 11%

31-60 minutes 68% 67% 56% 16% 9% 15% 17% 9% 11%

61-90 minutes 10% 12% 13% 9% 1% 1% 10% 1% 1%

91-120 minutes 8% 7% 12% 22% 1% 0% 20% 0% 0%

121+ minutes 2% 2% 5% 29% 2% 0% 25% 1% 0%

Page 81
Agenda item 4



References

1          Schools Workforce Census 2010-2015 – https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/NATRE%

           20Report%20on%20the%20provision%20for%20RE%20SWF%20for%20SOTN%202017%20final4%

20130917.pdf.

2         School survey, Question 1 – See Appendix 1. 

3         Schools Workforce Census 2010-2015 – https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/NATRE%

           20Report%20on%20the%20provision%20for%20RE%20SWF%20for%20SOTN%202017%20final4%

20130917.pdf. 

4          School survey, Question 13 – See Appendix 1. 

5         School survey, Question 1 – See Appendix 1. 

6         Schools Workforce Census 2010-2015 – https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/NATRE%

           20Report%20on%20the%20provision%20for%20RE%20SWF%20for%20SOTN%202017%20final4%

20130917.pdf.

7         School survey, Question 13 – See Appendix 1.

8          Schools Workforce Census 2010-2015 – https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/NATRE%

           20Report%20on%20the%20provision%20for%20RE%20SWF%20for%20SOTN%202017%20final4%

20130917.pdf.

9          Register of Regulated Qualifications (https://register.ofqual.gov.uk/): The Ofqual register of qualifications that

sets out that pupils that follow a GCSE Full course should expect to receive between 120 and 140 hours of

classroom teaching over the course which equates to approximately 10% of curriculum time.

10       School survey, Question 19 - See Appendix 1.

11       School survey, Question 19 - See Appendix 1. 

12        GCSE Entries Findings, https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/GCSE%20RS%20entries%20

analysis%20over%20time%20final3%20130917.pdf.

13        GCSE Entries Findings, https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/GCSE%20RS%20entries%20

           analysis%20over%20time%20final3%20130917.pdf.

14        School survey, Question 13 – See Appendix 1.

15        GCSE Entries Findings, https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/GCSE%20RS%20entries%20

           analysis%20over%20time%20final3%20130917.pdf.

16        GCSE Entries Findings, https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/GCSE%20RS%20entries%20

           analysis%20over%20time%20final3%20130917.pdf.

17        A Review of Religious Education in England: The Religious Education Council of England and Wales, October

2013, pg.15. 

18        School Standards and Framework Act 1998:

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/31/pdfs/ukpga_19980031_en.pdf 

19        Church of England schools generally follow their locally agreed syllabus, which is why the SIAMS inspections do

not inspect RE specifically (Core Q 3) although do look at it in Core Q 1 - the impact of RE on the Christian

distinctiveness of the school and SMSC.  

20        Section 80(2)(a), Education Act 2002.

21        Religious Education in English Schools: Non-statutory guidance 2010, page 10:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/190260/DCSF-00114-2010.pdf  

22        Section 375, Education Act 1996.

23        Schedule 19(3), School Standards and Framework Act 1998.  

24        Schedule 19(2), School Standards and Framework Act 1998. 

25        RE and Collective Worship in Academies and Free Schools -Department for Education FAQs. 

Page 58

Page 82
Agenda item 4



Page   59

The State of the Nation: A report on Religious Education provision within secondary schools in England 

26       School survey, Question 1 – See Appendix 1.

27        GCSE Entries Findings, GCSE Entries Findings,

https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/GCSE%20RS%20entries%20

analysis%20over%20time%20final3%20130917.pdf.

28        School survey, Question 1 – See Appendix 1.

29        School survey, Question 1 – See Appendix 1.

30       School survey, Question 1 – See Appendix 1.

31       School survey, Question 2 – See Appendix 1. 

32        School survey, Question 19 – See Appendix 1.

33        School survey, Question 19 – See Appendix 1.

34        School survey, Question 19 – See Appendix 1.

35       Engaging students in high quality and challenging religious education: Broughton Business and Enterprise

College, Ofsted Case Study, 2013. Link:

http://religiouseducationcouncil.org.uk/media/file/Broughton_Business_and_Enterprise_Co.pdf 

36        Register of Regulated Qualifications: https://register.ofqual.gov.uk/.

37        School survey, Question 19 - See Appendix 1.

38        School survey, Question 19 - See Appendix 1.

39        School survey, Question 19 - See Appendix 1.

40        School survey, Question 19 - See Appendix 1.

41        GCSE Entries Findings, https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/GCSE%20RS%20entries%20

           analysis%20over%20time%20final3%20130917.pdf..

42        School survey, Question 13 – See Appendix 1.

43        School survey, Question 12 – See Appendix 1. 

44        https://www.natre.org.uk/uploads/Free%20Resources/School%20workforce%20survey%202015%20report%

20301016.pdf 

45       Schools with a religious character

46        Link: http://www.teachre.co.uk/teach-re-course/ 

Page 83
Agenda item 4



Page 84
Agenda item 4



Central Bedfordshire
SACRE Development Plan 
April 2017 – March 2018                                                 

SACRE CBC Development Plan April 2017 - March 2018                

Aims:- To ensure that high quality RE and Collective Worship opportunities are delivered in Central Bedfordshire schools
            To use the expertise of SACRE Members to support the Agreed Syllabus 
            To signpost school RE Subject Leaders to publications and personnel to enhance the RE curriculum within schools

Areas for development
Focus Frequency/

Time Scale
Key Impact Measure(s)/Outcomes Update

To plan for the statutory review of the 
Agreed Syllabus 

At each termly 
meeting 

 To plan for the review of the Agreed Syllabus to 
ensure that it is fit for purpose and meets the 
needs of LA schools

Autumn Term 2017/ 
Spring Tem 2018

To monitor comments re. Spiritual. 
Moral, Social and Cultural 
Development (SMSC) in Central 
Bedfordshire schools through 
information gleaned from Ofsted 
reports and RE subject inspections

At each termly 
SACRE Meeting 

 SACRE members will have a more informed 
understanding of the quality of provision currently 
in place within the inspected schools

Specific school 
information shared at 
each termly meeting.

To review final GCSE and A level 
results in Religious Education from the 
summer of 2017

Annually  To review results, celebrate achievements and 
consider any implications for the future.

Spring Term 2018

To support the Professional Studies 
Group in RE, especially concentrating 
on primary planning.

Termly  RE Subject Leaders will benefit from networking 
opportunities to share ideas and practice

 Subject specialists involvement will raise 
awareness of what good practice in RE teaching 
looks like

Autumn Term 2017 
and at subsequent 
meetings 

To provide opportunities for SACRE 
Council Members to gain knowledge 
and experience of different faiths 
through presentations at meetings.
Presentations will reflect different age 
groups and types of schools.

At least once 
during the year.

 SACRE Council members will be better informed 
about a wide spectrum of faiths

Autumn Term 2017 
and at subsequent 
meetings

P
age 85

A
genda item

 5



Central Bedfordshire
SACRE Development Plan 
April 2017 – March 2018                                                 

SACRE CBC Development Plan April 2017 - March 2018                

Focus Frequency/
Time Scale

Key Impact Measure(s)/Outcomes Update

To provide opportunities for SACRE 
Council Members to visit schools in 
Central Bedfordshire to observe RE 
lessons.

Ongoing  SACRE Council members will be better informed 
as to how RE is being taught in Central 
Bedfordshire schools

Autumn Term 2017+

To investigate and review the use of 
artefacts within schools and ensure 
that schools are aware of what is 
available

Ongoing  All schools have access to appropriate artefacts for 
the teaching of RE

Feedback from Chair

To further promote the RE Quality Mark 
and support schools choosing to 
engage in the pursuit of REQM

Ongoing  To facilitate support for schools wishing to gain the 
RE Quality Mark during the year 

Summer Term 2017 
onwards

Areas of ongoing activity

Focus Frequency/
Time Scale

Key Impact Measure(s)/Outcomes Update

To ensure that SACRE meetings are 
organised efficiently on a termly basis 

April 2017 – 
March 2018

 Best value for money will be secured through careful 
budgeting and administrative support

 SACRE will be effective in fulfilling its statutory duties

Dates circulated 
for 2017 / 18 to 
fit members’ 
requests.

To arrange for an Annual SACRE 
report to be sent out to interested 
parties, including all Central 
Bedfordshire schools

Spring Term 
2018

 SACRE will have fulfilled its statutory duty to publish an 
account of its work

 Schools in Central Bedfordshire will be well informed 
about the work of SACRE

Spring Term 
2018

P
age 86

A
genda item

 5



Central Bedfordshire
SACRE Development Plan 
April 2017 – March 2018                                                 

SACRE CBC Development Plan April 2017 - March 2018                

Focus Frequency/
Time Scale

Key Impact Measure(s)/Outcomes Update

To ensure a representative attends the 
NASACRE AGM

Summer Term 
2017 

 Through good quality feedback from representatives 
SACRE members will understand key points on the 
national agenda and be made aware of good practice 
emerging from other SACREs across the country

Feedback from 
representative of 
SACRE
June 2017

To support the 2018 Holocaust 
Memorial Day (HMD) Event

Spring Term 
2018

 The lessons of holocaust experiences will be a valuable 
one for both students and other adults

Spring Term 
2018

In the 2018 Summer Term Meetings there will be time to evaluate the impact of the latest development plan and use this information to inform 
subsequent developments.

P
age 87

A
genda item

 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Ofsted SMSC April – July 2017

                                     Ofsted Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural (SMSC) comments April - July 2017              

          (Grade 1= Outstanding       Grade 2 = Good       Grade 3 = Requires Improvement    4= Serious Weaknesses / Special Measures)

Lower Schools by date order

School Inspection 
date

Overall 
grade

Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural (SMSC) comments

Stanbridge, 
Leighton Buzzard

16/03/17 2 No comments.

Langford 04/05/17 2 This is a good school
The well-designed curriculum enriches pupils’ lives through a good range of engaging 
activities. Pupils learn important values such as tolerance, respect and thoughtfulness. This 
contributes strongly to effectively developing pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural 
growth.
Effectiveness of leadership and management
Leaders have developed an engaging curriculum of well-planned activities that capture the 
imagination of pupils and support the effective development of pupils’ spiritual, moral, social 
and cultural development.
Personal development and welfare
Pupils understand and enjoy their assemblies. These occasions are well planned and make 
an important contribution to pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural development.

Shillington 17/05/17 2 This school continues to be good
Alongside leaders’ focus on pupils’ academic achievements, your thoughtful promotion of 
pupils’ social and emotional well-being continues to be a strength of the school.
You acknowledge that the curriculum needs to be further developed to incorporate explicit 
teaching of these aspects in order that pupils acquire the necessary skills and attitudes that 
will allow them to participate fully in, and contribute positively to, life in modern Britain

Templefield, Flitwick 25/05/17 2 The curriculum is rich and varied and contributes well to pupils’ personal development and the 
promotion of British values.

Maulden 20/06/17      2 No comments. P
age 89

A
genda item

 6



Ofsted SMSC April – July 2017

School Inspection 
date

Overall 
grade

Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural (SMSC) comments

Gothic Mede, 
Arlesey

28/06/17 2 Effectiveness of leadership and management
Pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural development and the promotion of British values 
are threaded throughout the curriculum and are supported well.

Primary Schools by date order

School Inspection 
date

Overall 
grade

Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural (SMSC) comments

Beecroft, Dunstable 24/05/17 2 Effectiveness of leadership and management
Pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural education is a strength of the school. Leaders and 
staff support the development of pupils’ emotional resilience and self-confidence as learners 
well. As a consequence, pupils are able to overcome the barriers to their learning swiftly.

Middle Schools by date order

School Inspection 
date

Overall 
grade

Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural (SMSC) comments

Woodland, Flitwick 18/05/17 2 This is a good school
The curriculum strongly supports pupils’ social, moral, spiritual and cultural development.
Effectiveness of leadership and management
The school offers a variety of clubs, trips and activities covering sports and the arts. The 
opportunity to participate in school drama productions is a strength, with 160 pupils 
participating in recent productions. These activities, together with assemblies and tutor time, 
complement the curriculum and provide strong support for pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and 
cultural development.

             (Grade 1= Outstanding       Grade 2 = Good       Grade 3 = Requires Improvement    4= Serious Weaknesses / Special Measures)

P
age 90

A
genda item

 6



Document is Restricted

Page 91
Agenda item 9

NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 93
Agenda item 9

NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	3 Commission on Religious Education
	4 State of the Nation Report
	5 SACRE Development Plan
	6 Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural Comments
	9 Review of Agreed Syllabus Update
	1A Draft Beds Beds Luton RE  Syllabus Lat B Sep 17 Version 6 (1)


